AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

THE

CITY OF TAMPA

AND

LOCAL UNION NO. 754, INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS, AFL-CIO

EFFECTIVE OCTOBER 1, 2016
THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	<u>PAGE</u>
Preamble	3
Article 1 Recognition	4
Article 2 Check Off	5
Article 3 Union Business	6
Article 4 No Strike	9
Article 5 Grievance Procedure & Arbitration	10
Article 6 No Discrimination	13
Article 7 Seniority	14
Article 8 Staffing	16
Article 9 Hours of Duty and Overtime	17
Article 10 Wages	21
Article 11 Special Assignments	24
Article 12 Promotional Vacancies/Working Out of Class	28
Article 13 Longevity Award	30
Article 14 Off Duty Court Time/Jury Duty	32
Article 15 Annual Leave	34
Article 16 Sick Leave	39
Article 17 Absent Without Pay	43
Article 18 Absent Without Leave	44
Article 19 Funeral Leave	45
Article 20 Leave of Absence Without Pay	46
Article 21 Military Leave	51
Article 22 Holidays	52
Article 23 Layoff and Recall	55
Article 24 Mileage Reimbursement	58
Article 25 Medical Insurance	59
Article 26 Life and AD&D Insurance	60

TABLE OF CONTENTS (Con't)

Article 27 Uniforms, Safety, Safety Equipment, and Health	61
Article 28 Parking	65
Article 29 Tuition Reimbursement/Education Incentive/Training	66
Article 30 Personnel Records	68
Article 31 Discipline	69
Article 32 Promotions	72
Article 33 Workers' Compensation	75
Article 34 Miscellaneous	80
Article 35 Incentive Leave	81
Article 36 Labor Management Committee	83
Article 37 Employee Assistance Program/Drug Testing	84
Article 38 Formal Investigations	95
Article 39 Prevailing Rights	98
Article 40 Amendment and Severability	99
Article 41 Duration, Modification and Termination	100
Appendix A	102
Appendix B	106
Appendix C	107
Appendix D	109
Appendix E	110
Appendix F	111

PREAMBLE

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the $\frac{12}{12}$ day of January, 2017 by and between the City of Tampa, a municipal corporation of the State of Florida, hereinafter called the City, and the Local Union No. 754, International Association of Firefighters, AFL-CIO-CLC, hereinafter called the Union. It is the intent and purpose of this Agreement to assure a sound and harmonious working relationship between the parties hereto, to provide an orderly and peaceful means of resolving any misunderstandings or differences which may arise, and to set forth herein basic and full agreements between the parties concerning rates of pay, wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment. There shall be no individual arrangement contrary to the terms herein provided. Either party hereto shall be entitled to require a specific performance of the provisions of this Agreement. It is understood that the City and the employees covered by this Agreement are engaged in furnishing essential public services which vitally affect the health, safety, comfort, and general well being of the public and both parties hereto recognize the need for continuous and reliable service to the public.

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

- 1.1 The City of Tampa recognizes Local Union No. 754 International Association of Firefighters, AFL-CIO as the exclusive bargaining representative for wages, hours and terms and conditions of employment for all employees employed in the following bargaining unit in accordance with that certain certification issued by the Public Employees Relations Commission of the state of Florida on August 11, 1976, Cert. #259.
- 1.2 The bargaining unit includes all fire personnel employed in the City of Tampa Fire Rescue Department with ranks F-1 through and including F-11 except managerial, confidential, clerical and professional employees as defined by Chapter 447 of Florida Statutes.
- 1.3 The City agrees that during the term of this Agreement, it will deal only with authorized representatives of the IAFF in matters requiring mutual consent or other official action called for by this Agreement. The IAFF agrees to notify the City of the name of such authorized representatives as of the execution of this Agreement and replacement thereof during the term of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 2 CHECK OFF

- 2.1 The City shall deduct dues and uniform assessments owed by the employee to the Union in an amount certified to be correct by the Union Secretary-Treasurer and forward them to the Union on a monthly basis; provided, that prior to such deduction the Union has provided the City with a signed authorization from each employee whose dues are to be deducted that such deduction is authorized; provided further that such authorization is in accordance with applicable law. Any deductions for items other than Union dues or assessments must be approved semi-annually by the Director of Human Resources.
- 2.2 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any authorization for dues deduction may be cancelled by the employee upon thirty (30) days written notice to the City and the Union.
- 2.3 The Union shall indemnify and hold harmless the City from any and all claims or demands and expenses in connection therewith based upon the City's participation in dues deduction.
- 2.4 Nothing contained herein shall require the City to deduct from a salary or be otherwise involved in the collection of Union fines, penalties or special assessments.
- 2.5 Any changes in the amount to be deducted for monthly dues shall be implemented after written notification from the Union is received by the City. Said notification shall be provided to the City a minimum of four weeks prior to the first pay date on which the dues increase is to be effective.
- 2.6 The City shall charge the Union 30¢ per member per month but not more than one percent of the total amount deducted.

ARTICLE 3 UNION BUSINESS

- 3.1 Members designated by the Union President will be granted Union Leave (time off with pay) for the purposes of handling grievances; attending union meetings for the formulation of proposals to be submitted in negotiations; attendance at Union conventions, memorial ceremonies, meetings, and seminars; attendance at collective bargaining negotiations and impasse resolution procedures; and City Council meetings regarding the resolution of collective bargaining impasse procedures or meeting with a City Council member. Union leave must be used for conducting union business related to City of Tampa labor relations matters and shall not be granted for lobbying or any other political activity. In the event that Union representatives participate in lobbying at the request of and on behalf of the City, regular pay status will be utilized rather than union leave. The names of the Union officers and stewards shall be submitted to the Fire Chief and the Director of Human Resources.
- 3.2 Unless the Chief of Operations determines manpower requirements prohibit such, employees whose attendance is certified by the Union as necessary for the functions described above shall be granted time off to attend such functions without loss of pay. Representatives of the Union desiring Union leave shall submit their request to the office of the Chief of Operations at the earliest time possible and except for the Union President, Vice President, or Secretary at least 72 hours prior to the date of any such leave. In an emergency situation involving Union business, leave may be authorized verbally by the Chief of Operations. Such request shall not be unreasonably denied. Union leave requested as provided herein shall not be denied for staffing reasons for the four elected union officers unless the Mayor or the Fire Chief formally declare an emergency.
- 3.3 The Union shall be afforded bulletin board space in each Fire Department installation for the purpose of posting notices of meetings or other union notices if determined to be pertinent to its membership. Upon the request of the union to the Fire Personnel Chief, such notices may be transmitted by the department through the City's

computer system to department employees and shall be restricted to the information that would otherwise be placed on the bulletin boards. No such notice shall be posted unless it has been signed and authorized by the Union President and the Fire Chief prior to the time of posting. The Union President and the Fire Chief shall determine standard notices that may be posted on a routine basis without individual authorization by the Fire Chief. The Union may have access to departmental mail for distribution provided that specific authorization is granted by the Fire Chief. Authorization for notices of Union meetings and minutes of Union meetings shall not be unreasonably denied.

- 3.4 Representatives of the Union shall be allowed to meet with each firefighter's basic training class after duty hours. The City will distribute an IAFF informational flyer to recruits. The content of the flyer will be mutually agreed upon by the City and the IAFF.
- 3.5 The privileges granted by this Article will be exercised reasonably and will not be abused by the Union or its members, but in no event shall time off with pay exceed an aggregate of 2,500 hours in any one fiscal year. In a fiscal year, which includes negotiation of a successor union contract or wage reopener, an additional 300 hours shall be added for purposes of negotiations.

If the aggregate number of hours as specified above is exhausted prior to the end of a fiscal year, the city will transfer upon the union's request 1.0 hour of annual leave and/or 1.0 hour of sick leave per fiscal year from union members to the union leave bank.

- 3.6 In the event that the Union does not use the entire number of hours provided by this Article in any one fiscal year, then it may carry the unused portion of those hours over to the following fiscal year. There shall be no borrowing of union leave from the following fiscal years.
- 3.7 Neither union representatives nor unit employees shall leave their posts or work stations for the purpose of investigating, presenting, handling or settling grievances without the express permission of the Chief of Operations. The President or designated representative or legal counsel shall not contact any employee concerning grievance

matters or union business during the working hours of the employee without the express prior permission of the Chief of Operations in accordance with Article 3.2. The Chief of Operations and Union President may agree to predetermined authorized contact periods for this purpose. When a grievance hearing is scheduled during the grievant's tour of duty, the grievant shall be allowed to attend the hearing without utilizing union leave. The City shall attempt to schedule the hearing during the grievant's duty hours, however, nothing contained herein shall obligate the City to compensate a grievant for attendance of his/her grievance hearing when scheduled during the grievant's off duty hours.

- 3.8 In the event that the IAFF determines that an employee will be on extended union leave, the employee shall retain his rate of pay (grade and step) and shall receive pay adjustments in accordance with Appendix A. Said employee will retain his salary review date and, if 70% or more hours have been spent on City time for the review period, shall be evaluated solely on the City work assignments' performance. If less than 70% of the hours have been spent on City time, then the employee shall receive a neutral evaluation and shall receive a satisfactory rating along with step increases as may be applicable for that rating. Said employee shall maintain all required certification and attend all mandatory training.
- 3.9 The City shall furnish the Union with a copy of all written rules and regulations pertaining to employer employee relations, including but not limited to: City Administrative Orders, City Personnel Rules, Departmental Administrative Orders, Departmental Rules and Regulations, Standard Operating Procedures, Divisional and Training Orders and other material regularly distributed to employees in the bargaining unit. The City will attempt to send said copies to the Union on the same date they are distributed to employees.

ARTICLE 4 NO STRIKE

- 4.1 The Union agrees that during the term of this Agreement it shall not participate in, authorize, condone, excuse, ratify, instigate or support in any manner any concerted failure to report for duty, concerted absence of employees from their positions, concerted stoppage of work, concerted submission of resignations, concerted abstinence in whole or in part by any group of employees from the full and faithful performance of the duties of employment with a public employer, for the purpose of inducing, influencing, condoning or coercing a change in the terms and conditions of employment or the rights, privileges, or obligations of public employment, or deliberate and concerted course of conduct which adversely affects the services of the public employer, including but not limited to the concerted failure to report for work after the expiration of a collective bargaining agreement and picketing in furtherance of a work stoppage.
- 4.2 Should the Union or a majority of the employees covered hereunder within the City's Fire Department breach this article, the Union agrees that the City shall have unrestricted recourse to all rights provided by Chapter 447 Florida Statutes, including the right to proceed to the appropriate court and obtain an injunction against such breach; that the City may recover from the Union or its successor in interest such damage as may be incurred and attorney's fees; and that the City may take any other action authorized or required by law. The Union further agrees that while the fact of any employee's participation in activity described in Section 4.1 may be subject to the grievance procedure, the disciplinary action taken against said employee shall not be subject to said procedure.

ARTICLE 5 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE AND ARBITRATION

- 5.1 A grievance shall be defined as any difference, dispute or complaint regarding the interpretation or application of the terms of this Agreement including rights and working conditions.
- 5.2 All grievances filed shall refer to the specific section of this Agreement upon which the grievance is based and shall contain a concise statement of the facts alleged to support the grievance. Grievances shall be processed in accordance with the following procedure and shall be determined by application of the terms of this Agreement, the laws of the United States, the State of Florida, and the Charter and Ordinances of the City of Tampa. Only those grievances filed on the agreed upon Grievance Form may use this procedure.
 - Step 1. Within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the occurrence or the date on which the employee knew or should have known of the action giving rise to the grievance, the grievance shall be submitted to the Fire Chief (or designee). Within seven (7) calendar days the Fire Chief shall meet with the employee and a Union representative. After said meeting is held, the Fire Chief (or designee) shall respond to the grievance in writing within seven (7) calendar days with a copy to the Union President.
 - Step 2. If the employee is not satisfied with the written response of the Fire Chief (or designee), the grievance and all responses shall be submitted within seven (7) calendar days to the Director of Human Resources (or designee). Within seven (7) calendar days the Director of Human Resources (or designee) shall meet with the employee and a union representative unless said meeting is waived. After said meeting is held, the Director of Human Resources (or designee) shall

respond to the grievance in writing within seven (7) calendar days with a copy to the President of the Union.

5.3 Any grievance not resolved in the grievance procedure, after being fully processed may be referred to final and binding arbitration in the manner provided herein.

5.4 Arbitration

- A. Within ten (10) calendar days from the receipt of the response of the Director of Human Resources (or designee), the union shall give written notice to the City and shall at the same time request a list of seven (7) arbitrators from the Federal Mediation & Conciliation Service copies to be furnished to both parties. The Union shall provide payment of the filing fee.
- B. Within fourteen (14) calendar days after receipt of the list of arbitrators, the Union and the City shall meet and alternately strike names therefrom, the remaining name shall designate the arbitrator.
- As promptly as can be arranged but not more than thirty (30) calendar days unless mutually agreed by the City and the Union, the arbitration hearing shall be held. The arbitrator, in rendering his written decision, shall confine his decision to the controversy in question and he shall not have the authority to add to, take away from, alter or amend any provision of this Agreement.
- D₁ The decision of the arbitrator insofar as it is in conformance with paragraph "C" hereinabove, shall be final and binding on both parties.
- E. The expense of the arbitrator, including the cost of a certified court reporter, shall be borne equally by both parties.
- 5.5 The time limits contained herein shall be extended for seven (7) calendar days upon written notification of either party. Any extension greater than seven (7) calendar

days requires mutual written consent for reasonable circumstances. Official City holidays, annual leave and sick leave shall be excluded from the compilation of all time limits as applicable for the employee or the responder. If the employee or Union fails to appeal a grievance to the next step in the procedure within the time limits specified, the grievance shall be considered forfeited and no further action shall be taken. If management fails to observe the time limits, the employee shall have the right to move the grievance to the next successive step. If the City fails to respond within the time limits specified with respect to Step 2, the City will forfeit the grievance; however, such forfeiture shall not be considered a decision on the merits of the grievance or in any way establish a precedent.

5.6 Nothing contained herein shall prohibit the employees from utilizing the Civil Service appeal procedure except that once an employee or the Union reduces a grievance to writing and submits it according to the steps in this Agreement he shall not thereafter have access to Civil Service for the resolution of the grievance involved.

ARTICLE 6 NO DISCRIMINATION

6.1 The City and the Union specifically agree that the provisions of this Agreement shall be equally applicable to all employees covered herein without regard to race, color, religion, national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, age, disability, familial status or marital status, membership or nonmembership in a labor organization as provided by law; except that the certified employee organization shall not be required to process grievances for employees who are not members of the organization.

ARTICLE 7 SENIORITY

- 7.1 <u>Definition</u>. Seniority is hereby defined as follows:
- a. Departmental seniority is total length of continuous service with the Tampa Fire Department effective with the date the employee is placed in a Firefighter position (grade F-1).
- b. Classification assignment seniority is total length of continuous service effective with the date the employee is placed in the specific classification/assignment (job titles listed in Appendix A).
- c. Continuous service is defined as the period of employment not interrupted by resignation, dismissal, retirement, quitting without notice, or any other termination of employment. Time spent greater than thirty (30) calendar days on Leave of Absence (except for a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence), Lay Off, or suspension shall not be credited in the calculation of seniority dates. Seniority dates are not adjusted due to absences while on Workers' Compensation.
- 7.2 The Fire Department shall establish a departmental seniority list and it shall be brought up to date on January 1 of each year, and a copy of same shall be forwarded to the Union. Where individuals have the same seniority date, they will be listed according to the date and time of the application for employment was received by the City. If there is also a tie in the date of receipt of the application, then the employees will be listed according to the Civil Service examination score. If there is then still a tie, the employees shall be listed by alphabetical order. Any objection to the seniority list shall be reported to the Fire Department within fifteen (15) days or it shall stand approved. The departmental seniority list shall be used in accordance with Article 15.

- 7.3 Station transfers or apparatus assignments will not be used as a form of discipline, unless indicated on a Notice of Disciplinary Action form, or be implemented in an arbitrary or capricious fashion.
- 7.4 Whereas management has the responsibility for efficient distribution of experience and special qualifications, station assignments are the domain of management. However, unless there are overriding factors, station vacancies which occur shall be advertised and filled with the transfer of the person with the most departmental seniority who meets the minimum requirements, requesting the assignment.

ARTICLE 8 STAFFING

- 8.1 Should an employee be displaced the employee can exercise bumping rights in accordance with Article 23 (Layoff and Recall). However, should an employee be displaced and the provisions of Article 23 result in the employee occupying a lower pay grade, then said employee's salary shall remain equal to his pay rate on the date the employee is displaced. However, at such time that the pay grade assigned to the employee's actual job classification is greater than or equal to the employee's rate of pay, then the employee's rate of pay shall be adjusted to the proper pay grade rate.
 - 8.2 The City shall provide a whole list certification for the selection of new hires.
- 8.3 There will be thorough and complete job descriptions for all classifications covered by this Agreement. The Union shall be provided fourteen (14) days notice and an opportunity to discuss such change in job descriptions. Within this fourteen (14) day notice period, the Union can bring to the attention of the City any concerns they might have regarding said change. If any concerns still remain after discussing said changes with the City, the Union shall have fourteen (14) calendar days from the date of the discussion with the City to file a class action grievance. Such proposed change shall be subject to the grievance procedure contained herein.
- 8.4 The City will continue to explore voluntary compliance with NFPA 1710. Said review shall in no way be considered endorsement or agreement with NFPA 1710 by the City. Both the City and the Union recognize the importance and complexity, as well as the impact that NFPA 1710 would have on public safety issues.

ARTICLE 9 HOURS OF DUTY AND OVERTIME

9.1 Work Cycle - Variable

The work cycle and schedule for employees assigned to the variable work week shall be defined as 144 hours of work plus a 24 hour Kelly Day in a three week work cycle. Employees assigned to a variable work week shall receive one (1) 24 hour Kelly Day for every three week cycle. The department shall make every effort to utilize qualified volunteers for non-training TDY assignments which require changing the employee's work cycle from variable to the 40 hour work week.

Scheduling of Kelly Days shall be determined on a semi-annual basis by bid by departmental seniority. At the time bids are taken for Kelly Days, the Fire Department shall announce the effective date for the new Kelly Days. Effective dates shall be the first available cycle after January 1 and July 4 of each year. Employees who transfer to a different district shall retain their Kelly Day for the remainder of the six month period.

9.2 Work Cycle - 40 Hour

The work cycle and schedule for employees assigned to the 40 hour work week shall be defined as 40 hours of work in a one week work cycle. The department may approve requests of employees on the forty-hour work week to specify their schedule in the form of four ten-hour days, five eight-hour days, or other acceptable combination.

9.3 The payroll period for employees on the variable or the 40 hour work week shall be six weeks with a payroll draw (payment) every two weeks (See Appendix C). The biweekly draw for employees on the variable schedule shall be based on the six week average which is 96 hours bi-weekly.

9.4 Overtime

Employees assigned to a variable work week shall receive payment at the rate of time and one-half for all hours actually worked in excess of 144 hours of work plus a 24 hour Kelly Day, in a three week cycle.

Employees assigned to a 40 hour work week shall receive payment at the rate of time and one-half for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a one-week cycle.

- 9.5 The term "hours worked" shall, for purpose of calculating overtime, include line of duty injury time, funeral leave, union leave when utilized by the union elected officials, and all hours the employee is actually at work.
- 9.6 Payment for overtime over 300 hours made under this Section shall be considered special payments under the Fire & Police Pension Contract and shall not be pensionable under that contract.

9.7 Exchange of Time

Employees of the Fire Department shall be permitted to make voluntary in-grade changes of time of one duty day or less with the approval of the immediate supervisor and District Chief or Assistant Division Head. Volunteer exchange of time for more than one duty day or between employees of different rank or grade may be permitted with prior approval of the Chief of Operations (or designee). Said requests must be submitted to the Chief of Operations (or designee) for approval no later than two shift days prior to the effective date provided, however that exceptions can be made at the sole discretion of the Chief of Operations (or designee). Exchange of time between employees with different work schedules (variable vs 40 hours) shall not be authorized. No employee shall be entitled to overtime pay as the result of exchange of time.

9.8 Upon the reassignment of employees from one platoon to another platoon within the Department, said employees will be given a forty-eight (48) hour notice, and said employee will be given time off from the first platoon so that his total hours in the pay period of his platoon change do not exceed the hours he would have worked but for the change; and further provided between the end of the last duty tour on the first platoon and the first duty tour on the reassigned platoon, there will be a minimum of two (2) hours off-duty time for each hour of on-duty time of the last duty tour on the first platoon.

- 9.9 <u>Recall</u> Employees called to work after having left for the day or on a regularly scheduled day off, or more than two (2) hours prior to the start of their regular scheduled tour of duty, shall be guaranteed a minimum of three (3) hours work.
- 9.10 When sickness, leave, etc., reduces the level of staffing available, the Fire Chief will be authorized, at his discretion to utilize employees on overtime, on a voluntary basis making such assignments on a rotation basis by classification and shift from a list showing the names and order, by seniority. Such volunteers are to be called from the reserve shift at the time the need for overtime arises. An employee will not be offered a second overtime tour under this provision until all others on the list by classification are offered one.
- 9.11 When, for any reason, there is an insufficient number of employees who volunteer for overtime assignment, the Fire Chief will be authorized, at his discretion, to utilize employees on overtime making such assignments on a rotation basis by classification and shift from the list showing all names on that shift by order and seniority. Such assignments are to be made from the reserve shifts with the preceding shift being called first at the time the need for overtime arises, with the employee with the least seniority in such classification being selected first. An employee will not be assigned a second overtime tour under this provision until all others on the list by classification have been assigned one. Mandatory overtime shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half for the overtime assignment, regardless of the total hours worked in the three week cycle.
- 9.12 The Fire Chief will be authorized to assign overtime as in 9.10 or 9.11 by assigning the same classification for the position vacant or by assigning an "on duty" employee to fill the vacant position at the same or higher classification and then by assigning an employee to overtime at the classification thus vacated.
- 9.13 The City acknowledges in principle that overtime should be equalized and will attempt to do so whenever such equalization does not interfere with the efficient operation of the Department.

- 9.14 Mandatory overtime as set forth in section 9.11 shall be distributed as equally as practical among the employees of the Fire Department, and a record of all mandatory overtime worked by the employees will be maintained.
- 9.15 An employee who is scheduled for a vacation or approved leave will not be considered available for either voluntary or mandatory overtime from the normal quitting time of his last regularly scheduled shift to the normal starting time of his first regularly scheduled shift following the absence, unless the Fire Chief determines an emergency condition exists. Should this occur, the employee shall be paid at 150%, regardless of the total hours worked in the three week cycle.
- 9.16 An employee will not be required to work mandatory overtime falling between the end of his last regularly scheduled shift prior to his scheduled vacation and the normal starting time of his first regularly scheduled shift following his vacation, unless the Fire Chief determines an emergency condition exists. Should this occur, the employee shall be paid 150%, regardless of the total hours worked in the three week cycle.
- 9.17 In the event that prior scheduled union business conflicts with assigned mandatory overtime for an officer or executive board member of the Union then the next person on the list will be called and the union official affected will go to the top of the list for the next overtime assignment.
- 9.18 Any employee when off duty and required to attend a grievance arbitration hearing (Article 5.4) as a witness for the City shall be compensated for the time spent at the hearing as hours actually worked and as required mandatory overtime in accordance with Article 9.15.
- 9.19 Time spent on late runs shall be considered mandatory overtime in accordance with Article 9.11 and shall be paid at 150%, regardless of the total hours worked in the three week cycle.

ARTICLE 10 WAGES

- 10.1 The City agrees to pay each bargaining unit employee according to the schedule in the Appendix A. Employees hired on or after October 1, 2008 shall be placed at Step 1 upon attainment of their Florida state paramedic certification. Employees hired prior to October 1, 2008 that are below step 1 (steps EMT1, EMT2, or EMT3) shall be placed at step 1 upon attainment of their Florida state paramedic certification.
- 10.2 A step increase shall be awarded to an employee in pay grade F-1, upon satisfactory completion of the probationary period (one year); and annually thereafter, provided that the employee receives a satisfactory performance evaluation. The date of the step increase is considered the original Salary Review Date (SRD).
- 10.3 <u>Promotions/Assignments.</u> Employees who are promoted or assigned to positions in a higher pay grade shall be placed at the step of the higher pay grade specified in Appendix D.
- 10.4 <u>Promotional Probation</u>. Employees shall serve a promotional probation period of six months. The salary review date is not adjusted. The employee shall be eligible for a step increase up to the maximum step of the pay grade on the salary review date and annually thereafter provided that the employee receives a satisfactory performance evaluation.
- 10.5 <u>Assignments.</u> Employees who are placed in assignments (see Appendix A) shall be eligible for a one step increase on their original salary review date and annually thereafter up to the maximum of the pay grade, provided the employee receives a satisfactory performance evaluation. The salary review date is not adjusted.

- 10.6 <u>Reassignments</u>. Employees who are reassigned from an assignment to a prior position held by the employee shall be placed at the step of the pay grade equivalent to the employee's length of service or time in grade as applicable. Placement shall not exceed the maximum of the new pay grade. The salary review date is not adjusted.
- 10.7 <u>Demotions</u>. Employees who are demoted from promotional positions after completion of the promotional probationary period shall be placed at the step of the new pay grade equivalent to the employee's length of service or time in grade as applicable. The salary review date is not adjusted. An employee demoted during the promotional probationary period shall be placed at the same step which the employee had prior to the promotion. The salary review date is not adjusted.
- 10.8 <u>Transfer to Assistant Investigator/Inspector</u>. Employees who have attained the rank of Paramedic (F-4), Rescue Lieutenant (F-5), or Captain (F-7), with the completion of the promotional probationary period for that job classification, when selected from a certified promotional list for a vacant or newly created Assistant Fire Inspector/Investigator position may retain their higher pay grade for a maximum of three years, at which time they shall meet the qualifications of Fire Inspector or Fire Investigator in order to be placed (or remain) at grade F-7.
- 10.9 In the event that an employee is on a suspension, leave of absence, or layoff for a cumulative period in excess of 30 days in said year, the employee's salary review date is delayed by the number of days over the 30 days; for employees serving probationary periods the salary review date is delayed for the complete cumulative period (including the 30 days). However, the salary review date is not adjusted when the leave of absence is a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence. Salary review dates are not adjusted due to absences while on Workers' Compensation.
- 10.10 For purposes of implementing changes to the pay plan and step system, the salary review date for employees who are at grades F-3 and above as of October 1, 2008 shall be the salary review date in existence on October 1, 2008. This date will be maintained as the original salary review date for future promotions.

10.11 Salary administration for other transactions shall continue as specified in the City of Tampa Personnel Manual.

ARTICLE 11 SPECIAL ASSIGNMENTS

- 11.1 <u>Special Assignments</u>. Employees who are designated and assigned by the Fire Chief as Emergency Equipment Medical Supply Officer, Medical Support Officer, Airport Training Officer or other positions which meet the level of duties as determined by the Fire Chief with approval through the City budget process (job requisition) shall be placed at pay grade F-7 for the duration of the assignment. District Fire Chiefs who are designated and assigned by the Fire Chief as Division Chief (1A, 1B, 1C) shall be placed at pay grade F-11 for the duration of the assignment. Any other special assignment as approved by the City shall be paid at the rate below (11.2 through 11.12).
- 11.2 <u>Hazardous Materials Team</u>. Employees who are designated and assigned by the Fire Chief to the Hazardous Materials Team shall be paid a special payment of \$50.00 per bi-weekly pay period. The Hazardous Materials Team shall be defined as those employees assigned permanently to the Hazardous Materials Stations and meeting Hazardous Materials designation requirements. A special payment of \$30.00 per bi-weekly pay period shall be provided to those employees who are currently baselined and meeting the Hazardous Materials designation requirements. Said payment shall cease upon completion of the exit baseline. Payment shall be provided in accordance with section 11.12.
- 11.3 <u>Tactical Medical Response Team/Water Rescue Team</u>. Employees designated and assigned by the Fire Chief to the Tactical Medical Response Team/Water Rescue Team shall be paid a special payment of \$50.00 per bi-weekly pay period. Payment shall be provided in accordance with section 11.12.
- 11.4 Emergency Medical Technician/Paramedic Pay. Employees who hold or obtain a State of Florida EMT certification shall be paid \$30.00 bi-weekly. Employees who hold or obtain a State of Florida paramedic certification shall be paid \$110 bi-weekly. Employees who receive the paramedic certification pay shall not also be eligible for EMT

certification pay. Payment shall be provided in accordance with Section 11.12. The City intends to pursue, through future negotiations, the requirement that the paramedic certification pay contained herein shall require the employee to hold Paramedic of Record certification. Accordingly employees are encouraged to obtain the required Paramedic of Record certification.

- 11.5 <u>Critical Care Team.</u> Employees who have received department approved Critical Care Transport training and are assigned by the Fire Chief to the TFR Critical Care Transport Unit, shall receive a special payment of \$125.00 per bi-weekly pay period. A special payment of \$60.00 per bi-weekly pay period shall be provided to those employees who have received the applicable Critical Care Transport training and are utilized on the TFR Critical Care Transport Unit as the backup crew. Payments shall be provided in accordance with Section 11.12.
- 11.6 <u>ARFF</u>. Employees designated and assigned by the Fire Chief to the ARFF crews shall be paid a special payment of \$50 per bi-weekly pay period. A special payment of \$30.00 bi-weekly shall be provided to those employees designated and assigned by the Fire Chief as the ARFF Division backup crew and who have received the applicable FAR-139 training. Payment shall be provided in accordance with Section 11.12.
- 11.7 <u>Marine Division</u>. Employees designated and assigned by the Fire Chief to the Marine Division shall be paid a special payment of \$50 per bi-weekly pay period. A special payment of \$30.00 bi-weekly shall be provided to those employees designated and assigned by the Fire Chief as the Marine Division backup crew and who have received and passed the applicable OUPV course and completed the minimal (Rope Thrower) check-off procedures for Fireboat 1 or Fireboat 19 training. Payment shall be provided in accordance with Section 11.12.
- 11.8 <u>Urban Search and Rescue Team</u>. Employees designated and assigned by the Fire Chief to the Urban Search and Rescue Team (USRT) shall be paid a special payment of \$50 per bi-weekly pay period. Payment shall be provided in accordance with Section 11.12.

- 11.9 Fire Investigators who maintain certification as a law enforcement officer (per the City of Tampa Police Chief) shall be paid a special payment of \$50.00 per bi-weekly pay period. Payment shall be provided in accordance with section 11.12.
- 11.10 Assistant Fire Inspectors and Fire Inspectors and other employees assigned to the forty hour work week shall receive a special payment in any bi-weekly pay period which includes one or more designated holidays per Article 22 and in which case the special payment shall be equal to an additional 8 hours of pay per the number of holidays in the pay period.
- 11.11. Employees designated and assigned by the Fire Chief as Paramedic Field Training Officers (PFTO) shall be paid a special payment of \$50 per bi-weekly pay period. Payment shall be provided in accordance with Section 11.12.
- 11.12 Except as provided in section 11.4, should an employee be assigned to more than one of the assignments providing a special payment, the employee shall be eligible to receive only one special payment. These special payments of \$125.00, \$110.00, \$50.00, \$60.00, \$30.00 or other rate established herein per bi-weekly pay period are based on 86ϕ , 76ϕ , 34ϕ , 41ϕ , 14ϕ or other rate as applicable per hour at 150% (\$1.29, \$1.14, 52 ϕ 62 ϕ , or 20 ϕ for 96 hours) and will not be compounded by overtime. Special payments shall begin with the first full pay period for the assignment.
- 11.13 Employees who are designated and assigned by the Fire Chief as indicated in Appendix A shall not be removed from the assignment in an arbitrary or capricious manner and shall be provided notice of the reasons for removal of assignment. Removal from an assignment shall be subject to the grievance procedure.
- 11.14 <u>K-9 Team</u>. Under the current provision of the Fair Labor Standards Act, employees who are assigned by the Fire Chief to the K-9 team will be paid for the care of dogs after their normally scheduled work hours at the rate of \$ 8.00 per hour. The City and the IAFF hereby agree that an average of seven (7) hours per week is spent on such

duties. Employees will not work beyond the seven hours established for these duties unless exigent circumstances indicate a need and only upon the approval of a supervisor. The parties further agree that it is the prerogative of the City whether time spent in excess of the above is necessary.

- 11.14.1 Whenever a K-9 team employee is eligible for overtime pay at 150%, the premium pay shall be based on the "weighted average" of the employee's two rates of pay (the one for fire services and the one for canine care) as required by the current provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act. Training required by the department shall be scheduled during regular duty hours.
- 11.14.2 K-9 team employees will be charged with the appropriate leave whenever they work less than the regularly scheduled hours per week for fire duties but continue to perform canine care duties. The seven hours for canine care will not be counted towards the regularly scheduled work cycle.
- 11.14.3 K-9 team employees shall submit receipts for veterinary costs, K-9 equipment and dog food for reimbursement up to a maximum of \$660.00 per calendar year. For newly assigned team members or team members separating from employment the amount shall be pro-rated on a monthly basis.
 - 11.14.4 The K-9 team shall continue to consist of a minimum of six members.

ARTICLE 12 PROMOTIONAL VACANCIES/WORKING OUT OF CLASS

- 12.1 The Union agrees that an employee may be required to work at a position above his regular classification. Compensation for working out of class is included in consideration of the wage rates provided herein.
- 12.2 The City will fill promotional vacancies within 60 calendar days. The City will make every effort to maintain current eligibility lists.
- 12.3 Employees designated to serve in a higher classification from F-1 to F-3, from F-1 to F-4, from F-3 to F-4, from F-4 to F-5, from F-5 to F-7, from F-3 to F-7 from F-7 to F-10 or F-10 to M-E or F-11 shall be given credit for all time worked for periods of 4 consecutive hours or more and paid 60¢ per hour. Employees assigned to a forty hour work week, who serve in these higher classifications shall be compensated for periods of three (3) consecutive work days or more. These special payments shall not be compounded by overtime and shall be included in earnings subject to deduction for pension fund payment.

For purposes of this section, the City shall attempt to minimize out of class work. It is further understood that the rates calculated per employee result in payments which are considered to be at 150% and are not included in any overtime calculations.

12.4 In so far as operationally feasible, employees on the applicable Civil Service eligibility list will be given preference in the assignment of such out of classification work. Accordingly, any expected vacant assignment (i.e. when manning assignments are made for the next duty day), shall be filled with an employee on the applicable Civil Service eligibility list for that shift. The Fire Chief (or designee) shall monitor the distribution of out of class work to ensure that guidelines are being followed and that no employee is barred from out of class opportunities. Unexpected vacant assignments may be filled with an employee not on the applicable Civil Service eligibility list. It is further understood that for

training purposes, assignments to out of class work may occasionally be filled with employees not on the applicable Civil Service eligibility list.

ARTICLE 13 LONGEVITY AWARD

- 13.1 Employees who are on the payroll as of November 30 who have completed at least five years of continuous employment with the City are eligible to receive an annual longevity award which is paid after November 30 of each year.
- 13.2 Continuous employment is defined as the period of employment not interrupted by resignation, dismissal, or quitting without notice.
- 13.3 An eligible employee is given credit for any period of temporary or limited term status if the employment with the City has been continuous.
- 13.4 An eligible employee who works full time at least forty hours per week is awarded:

For Service

Of At Least	But Less Than	The Amount Is
5 years	10 years	.1% but not less than \$500
10 years	15 years	.2% but not less than \$750
15 years	20 years	.3% but not less than \$1,000
20 years	25 years	.5% but not less than \$1,250
25 years		.6% but not less than \$1,500

The percentage amount of payment shall be calculated on the sum of the employee's gross pay inclusive of overtime for the prior fiscal year.

13.5 <u>Pro-Rata Awards - Leave of Absence or Suspension</u>. If an eligible employee is suspended, on layoff, or on a leave of absence (except for a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence) for more than thirty (30) consecutive calendar days during one year (from one November 30 to another November 30), he/she receives a prorated longevity award for that year. One-twelfth of the annual amount is deducted from the annual award for each month and any portion of the month that the employee is suspended, on layoff, or

on a leave of absence (except for a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence) in excess of thirty (30) consecutive days. Longevity awards are not adjusted due to absences while on Workers' Compensation.

The total number of months that the eligible employee is on a leave of absence, layoff or suspension is deducted from the number of months of continuous service when calculating future longevity awards and the pro-rated longevity award at the employee's termination.

- 13.6 <u>Pro-Rata Awards Resignation</u>. When an employee who has completed at least five (5) years of continuous service voluntarily terminates or retires from the City, he/she receives a pro-rated longevity award. The pro-rata amount shall be figured on a monthly basis with fifteen (15) days or more counting as a full month and pro-rated on the length of continuous employment as of the employee's last anniversary. An eligible employee who voluntarily terminates or retires after the anniversary of his/her 5th, 10th, 15th, 20th, or 25th year of employment but prior to November 30 receives a pro-rated award based on the number of years completed service and not the amount of the previous year's award. Pro-rata separation awards shall be based on the dollar amounts listed in 13.4.
- 13.7 The Longevity Award provided in this article above will be included in earnings subject to deduction for pension fund payment.

ARTICLE 14 OFF DUTY COURT TIME/JURY DUTY

- 14.1 Off Duty Court Time. Employees required, on a duty related matter during non-working hours (off duty), to attend court or any other City legal matter in response to subpoena will be compensated as provided herein.
- 14.1.1 For off duty court appearances of two hours or less, the employee shall be guaranteed payment of two hours pay.
- 14.1.2 For off duty court appearances in excess of two hours, an employee shall receive payment for all hours during his appearance.
- 14.2 <u>Jury Duty</u>. Any employee who is subpoenaed by a government unit to either serve as a juror or a witness on behalf and at the request of a government jurisdiction (whether in court or through a sworn deposition) will receive full pay for the hours during which the employee is in attendance in such activities during the employee's working hours (on duty).
- A. A governmental unit is defined as an agency or office of Federal, state, or municipal government.
- B. This policy does not apply when the employee is subpoenaed in the following instances:
 - 1) When an employee is a defendant or plaintiff in a civil suit or criminal case;
 - 2) When an employee is subpoenaed by a defendant's attorney in a criminal case in a non-duty related matter;
 - 3) When an employee is subpoenaed by any party in a civil action in which a government is not a party;

- 4) When an employee is subpoenaed by the non-government party in a civil action in which a government is a party on a non-duty related matter.
- 14.2.1 The employee will notify his immediate supervisor as far in advance as possible of the impending jury duty or court attendance for necessary adjustment of assignments.
- 14.2.2 The immediate supervisor may request that the employee present proof of the subpoena and attendance in court before authorizing payment for this leave.
- 14.2.3 An employee who attends jury duty or court for only a portion of a shift will report to duty when excused or released from the court, provided however that, at the request of the court, employees on the variable work schedule shall not be required to return to duty after completing jury service as a juror if the employee must return to jury service as a juror on the following day.
- 14.2.4 The employee may retain all fees for jury duty, court attendance, or making a sworn deposition. Employees are prohibited from accepting "expert witness" fees for testimony related to their employment. "Expert witness" fees shall be turned over to the City of Tampa Treasurer's office. Employees may accept "expert witness" fees only when testimony is off duty (or on annual leave), not related to City of Tampa matters, and otherwise does not interfere or conflict with employment.

ARTICLE 15 ANNUAL LEAVE

- 15.1 <u>Definition</u>. Employees accrue annual leave as provided herein. Annual leave is an authorized absence from regularly scheduled work hours which has been approved by the Fire Chief. Annual leave may not be used by a candidate for public office or to cover repeated tardiness.
- 15.2 <u>Rate of Leave Accrual</u>. Annual leave shall accrue for employees assigned to a variable work week for hours worked on the basis of 4.8 hours for each bi-weekly payroll period (for example, employees actually working or on paid leave for 120 hours in a payroll cycle accrue 6.0 hours; if 96 hours accrue 4.8 hours; if 72 hours accrue 3.6 hours). Annual leave shall accrue for employees assigned to a forty (40) hour work week for hours worked on a basis of 3.8 hours for each bi-weekly payroll period.
- 15.3 <u>Bonus Hours</u>. Bonus hours will be credited annually to the employee's annual leave account for each five (5) years of continuous service (see Article 7.1c) according to the schedules contained herein. These additional hours shall accrue on the first day of the payroll cycle at the beginning of the new calendar year. The additional hours will thus be indicated on the following paycheck (for example, bonus hours are accrued on January 8, 1984; hours appear on the paycheck for that period issued on January 13, 1984). Bonus hours can be utilized after their accrual subject to proper request and scheduling as provided in this Agreement.

Variable Work Week:

For Service Of At Least	But Less Than	Bonus Hours
5 years	10 years	19.2
10 years	15 years	28.8
15 years	20 years	57.6
20 years	25 years	76.8
25 years		86.4

Forty Hour Work Week:

For Service Of At Least	But Less Than	Bonus Hours
5 years	10 years	16
10 years	15 years	24
15 years	20 years	48
20 years	25 years	64
25 years		72

- 15.4 <u>Maximum Accumulation</u>. A total of 312 hours of annual leave is the maximum that may be carried past the end of the calendar year for variable work week employees. Forty (40) hour work week employees may carry a maximum of two hundred forty (240) hours past the end of the calendar year. Any accumulation above the maximum as of the last day of the payroll cycle each calendar year shall be transferred to the employee's sick leave account (for example, transfer of hours occurs on January 7, 1984; hours appear on the paycheck for that period issued on January 13, 1984).
- 15.5 <u>Partial Accumulation and Disqualification</u>. In the month in which an employee is hired or separated, partial annual leave shall accrue according to the first or last day the employee actually worked or was on paid leave. Anytime during which the employee is on any type of leave without pay (i.e., suspensions, leave of absence, unpaid military leave, absence without pay, absence without leave) shall not be credited towards the calculation of annual leave accrual for the payroll period.
- 15.6 Request for Annual Leave. A request for annual leave shall be submitted on approved forms. Leave may be taken only after approval by authorized personnel. Every employee who has completed one (1) year of service shall be afforded the opportunity to schedule two (2) weeks of annual leave in accordance with published vacation schedule if properly requested. Employees shall not be authorized the use of annual leave until after completing six months of the entrance probationary period.

- 15.7 <u>Kelly Day</u>. When an employee assigned to a variable work week has a scheduled "Kelly Day" fall during his vacation, he will not be charged annual leave for the "Kelly Day" as this is not a scheduled work day.
- 15.8 <u>Scheduling Annual Leave</u>. Annual leave may be scheduled by unit employees assigned to a variable work week as follows:

1 through 10 years = 2 consecutive calendar weeks

11 through 19 years = 3 consecutive calendar weeks

20 and Over = 4 consecutive calendar weeks

provided that only 3 weeks may be scheduled

during the months of June, July, August, November and December

2nd Round Selection Scheduling Entitlement

All Fire Fighters = 2 calendar weeks

- 15.9 <u>Scheduling Caps</u>. The maximum number of individuals to be scheduled per shift per vacation period for a calendar year shall be determined by the Fire Chief for first and second round vacation selections. This number shall be not less than 13 with any fraction rounded to the next higher whole number of the fiscal year's budgeted combat platoon strength. This number shall be increased to 14 after staffing is completed for Station 23.
- 15.10 In the scheduling of annual leave the Fire Chief shall meet with the Union President prior to determining reasonable scheduling caps as set forth above.
- 15.11 Selection of scheduled vacation shall be based on departmental seniority insofar as the department needs permit.
- 15.12 The scheduling entitlement contained in this Article is allowable to each employee with the specified years of service provided that he has accumulated vacation

time sufficient to use the scheduling entitlement. Nothing in this Article shall be construed to guarantee any vacation in excess of that time that can be scheduled by use of an employee's accumulated vacation hours.

- 15.13 After the vacation schedule is published and distributed, additional annual leave may be requested subject to the approval of the Fire Chief.
- 15.14 Annual leave requests of less than one (1) week may be granted at the discretion of the Fire Chief or his designated representative.
- 15.15 Request for annual leave will not be denied in an arbitrary nor capricious manner.
- 15.16 In the event that an employee's assigned hours permanently change from the variable work week to the forty (40) hour work week, the employee's annual leave balance shall be converted based on multiplication of the current balance by 83.3%. Should an employee's assigned hours change from the forty (40) hour work week to the variable work week, the employee's annual leave balance shall be converted based on multiplication of the current balance by 120.05%. The conversion is effective with the date of the first bi-weekly pay period the employee begins work in that position. Accordingly, if the employee's hours change mid-payroll cycle, the conversion does not occur until the next cycle. Permanent changes are considered to be those when an employee is fulfilling a position with those specified hours excluding situations of light duty, attendance as training, or temporary assignment at the Training Division. For situations of light duty, attendance as training, or temporary assignment at the Training Division the City will not convert the leave balances but will utilize the manual ratio to record hours worked per Appendix B.
- 15.17 <u>Payment of Unused Annual Leave</u>. When an employee assigned to a variable work week separates from employment he shall be paid in a lump sum for all unused annual leave up to a maximum of 312 hours except when the employee has less than six months of continuous service with the City; or fails to give two weeks notice of the

resignation, the employee shall loose twenty four (24) hours of annual leave for each work day short of the fourteen (14) calendar days notice not to exceed 96 hours). An employee who is assigned to a forty (40) hour work week shall be treated in the same manner described above except that the maximum paid unused annual leave shall be 240 hours, with eight hours deducted for each calendar day short of 14 days. The City will explore the possibility of permitting employees (or their legal heirs) the option of receiving payment of unused annual leave, as provided herein, upon separation or delaying payment to a future, specified date.

ARTICLE 16 SICK LEAVE

- 16.1 <u>Sick Leave Accumulation</u>. Employees who are assigned to a variable work week shall accrue sick leave for hours actually worked on a basis of 4.8 hours for each biweekly payroll period (for example, employees actually working or on paid leave for 120 hours in a payroll cycle accrue 6.0 hours; if 96 hours accrue 4.8 hours; if 72 hours accrue 3.6 hours). Employees who are assigned to a forty hour work week shall accrue sick leave for hours actually worked on the basis of 3.8 hours for each bi-weekly payroll period.
- 16.2 <u>Accumulation Unlimited</u>. There shall be no maximum amount of sick leave which an employee may accumulate.
- 16.3 Partial Accumulation and Disqualification. In the month in which an employee is hired or separated partial sick leave shall accrue according to the first or last day the employee actually worked or was on paid leave. Anytime during which the employee is on any type of leave without pay (i.e., suspensions, leave of absence, unpaid military leave, absence without pay, absence without leave) shall not be credited towards the calculation of sick leave accrual for the payroll period.
- 16.4 When Sick Leave is Permissible. Sick leave shall be allowed only in cases of actual sickness or disability of the employee; necessary appointments with physicians or dentists; confinement to home because of quarantine. Employees may be required to present acceptable medical substantiation from a licensed physician. Acceptable medical substantiation from a licensed physician shall be required in the case of a concerted use of sick leave (i.e., predetermined day that a group of employees request sick leave). An employee may be authorized sick leave as soon as it is accrued. An employee assigned to the variable work schedule may be granted a maximum of 72 hours of sick leave per calendar year in order to provide care of an ill child, spouse, other legal dependent, parent or family member. An employee assigned to the forty hour work schedule may be granted a maximum of 48 hours of sick leave for this purpose. However, an employee with an absence approved in compliance with the provisions of the Family Medical Leave Act

(FMLA), may utilize their available sick leave balance (beyond the limitations of 72 hours or 48 hours of provided in this section) for the duration of the FMLA approved absence (a maximum of 12 weeks).

The City will continue to require medical substantiation when any employee utilizes sick leave contiguous with separation from employment.

- 16.4.1 Personal Use. Any employee, who is assigned to a variable work week, may be granted a maximum of 48 hours of accrued sick leave per calendar year for personal (non-illness) purposes. Any employee, who is assigned to a forty hour work week, may be granted a maximum of 40 hours of accrued sick leave per calendar year for personal (non-illness purposes). Employees who are assigned to a variable work week with ten or more years of continuous service may be granted a maximum of 57.6 hours of accrued sick leave per calendar year for personal (non-illness) purposes. Employees assigned to a forty hour work week with ten or more years of continuous service may be granted a maximum of 48 hours of accrued sick leave per calendar year for personal (non-illness) purposes. This time may not be utilized on a city designated holiday or contiguous to the employee's separation from employment.
- 16.5 Request for Sick Leave. To receive paid sick leave, the employee shall request sick leave within the time limits prescribed in Fire Rescue Department Rules and Regulations.
- 16.6 Should any employee be on sick leave at the time his scheduled annual leave begins that employee shall remain on sick leave with the scheduled annual leave period deferred until the employee returns to duty, unless after exhaustion of all accumulated sick leave, the employee has exhausted annual leave before returning to duty.
- 16.7 When Sick Leave is Exhausted. When the employee exhausts his sick leave, there shall be no advancement or borrowing of any type of leave from the employee's own leave account. The employee may be authorized to use accrued annual leave, leave without pay, or request a medical leave of absence for periods of fourteen (14) days or

more. The Sick Leave Bank in existence prior to this Agreement shall be continued. All employees of the unit shall be eligible for use of the sick leave bank when authorized and approved by the Sick Bank Committee. The decision to approve or disapprove use of time from the Fire Sick Leave Bank shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure. The Fire Chief and the Director of Human Resources (or designee) shall process personnel/payroll forms for sick leave bank use in accordance with the determination made by the Sick Bank Committee.

16.8 In the event that an employee's assigned hours permanently change from the variable work week to the forty (40) hour work week, the employee's sick leave balance shall be converted based on multiplication of the current balance by 83.3%. Should an employee's assigned hours change from the forty (40) hour work week to the variable work week, the employee's sick leave balance shall be converted based on multiplication of the current balance by 120.05%. The conversion is effective with the date of the first bi-weekly pay period the employee begins work in that position. Accordingly, if the employee's hours change mid-payroll cycle, the conversion does not occur until the next cycle. Permanent changes are considered to be those when an employee is fulfilling a position with those specified hours excluding situations of light duty, attendance at training, or temporary assignment at the Training Division. For situations of light duty, attendance at training, or temporary assignment at the Training Division the City will not convert the leave balances but will utilize the manual ratio to record hours worked per Appendix B.

16.9 <u>Unused Sick Leave</u>. Upon separation of any kind, the employee shall lose any and all claim to unused sick leave accumulation. Employees granted a longevity, disability or deferred retirement from the City under any pension plan shall be paid in a lump sum for one-half of the accumulated sick leave balance at the rate of pay in effect as of the date of separation. Upon the death of the employee, the employee's legal heirs shall be paid a lump sum for 75% of the accumulated unused sick balance at the employee's last rate of pay. The City will explore the possibility of permitting employees (or their legal heirs) the option of receiving payment of unused sick leave, as provided herein, upon separation or delaying payment to a future, specified date.

16.10 Should any employee have an emergency arise while on duty which would necessitate getting off; the City agrees said employee shall be allowed the utilization of the appropriate leave. The employee, when requesting authorization, shall provide explanation of the emergency and the duration of the leave. Abuse of this privilege shall be grounds for disciplinary action.

ARTICLE 17 ABSENT WITHOUT PAY

- 17.1 <u>Definition</u>. An absence without pay ("AWP") is an authorized absence for any part of a work day which is approved in writing.
- 17.2.1 <u>Use of Absence Without Pay</u>. An absence without pay is only to be administered on an emergency basis. It may not be used to cover repeated tardiness nor when an employee has accrued annual leave.
- 17.2.2 In the event that an employee has exhausted annual and/or sick leave balances, the District Chief or immediate supervisor may authorize an absence without pay for legitimate purposes up to a maximum of 24 hours in a calendar year. Additional absences without pay may be authorized at the discretion of the Fire Chief, however, no employee may be authorized more than 96 hours of absence without pay in a calendar year.
- 17.2.3 Additional absences without pay for extraordinary circumstances may be authorized by the Fire Chief provided that contiguous periods of 96 or more hours of absence shall require the applicable Leave of Absence status per Article 20.
- 17.2.4 Absences without pay shall not be credited towards the accrual of sick or annual leave.

ARTICLE 18 ABSENT WITHOUT LEAVE

- 18.1 <u>Definition</u>. An absence without leave ("AWL") is an absence for all or any part of a work day which is not approved in writing.
- 18.2.1 <u>Use of Absence Without Leave</u>. An absence without leave is administered as corrective disciplinary action and must be accompanied by written documentation in the form of a reprimand or other disciplinary action.
- 18.2.2 An employee who is absent without leave for three consecutive work days may be dismissed as quit without notice.
- 18.2.3 Absences without leave shall not be credited towards the accrual of sick and annual leave.

ARTICLE 19 FUNERAL LEAVE

- 19.1 Should death occur in the immediate family of an employee, the employee may be authorized a maximum of three eight hour periods of paid funeral leave (i.e., one 24 hour shift for variable work week, three 8-hour work days for forty hour work week). This leave is not deducted from the employee's sick or annual leave.
- A. The immediate family is defined as spouse, daughter, son, sister, brother, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, or any other member of the employee's immediate household. For domestic partnerships, this shall include the equivalent immediate family as listed herein.
- B. Based on individual circumstances, the employee may request and the Fire Chief may extend funeral leave to another twenty-four (24) hours for variable work week employees or sixteen (16) hours for forty hour work week employees. The extra hours are deducted from the employee's sick or annual leave at the employee's discretion.
- 19.2 In the event of a death of a relative, the employee may be authorized a maximum of twenty-four hours of paid funeral leave (i.e., one 24 hour shift for variable work week, three 8-hour work days for forty hour work week). This leave is not deducted from the employee's sick or annual leave.
- A. A relative is defined as grandson, granddaughter, grandparents, aunt, uncle, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, nephew or niece. For domestic partnerships, this shall include the equivalent relative as listed herein.
- B. Based on individual circumstances, the employee may request and the Fire Chief may extend funeral leave to another twenty-four (24) hours for variable work week employees or sixteen (16) hours for forty hour work week employees. The extra hours are deducted from the employee's sick or annual leave at the employee's discretion.

ARTICLE 20 LEAVE OF ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY

20.1 MEDICAL AND PERSONAL LEAVE OF ABSENCE

- 20.1.1 <u>Definitions and Eligibility</u>. A personal or medical leave of absence without pay may be granted to employees who have completed at least one year of continuous service. A leave of absence is a privilege the City may grant employees, not a right to which they are entitled. A personal leave of absence without pay may be granted to an employee for special education, personal business, family illness, and other approved reasons. A medical leave of absence without pay may be granted to an employee for medical reasons as certified by a licensed physician. A medical leave of absence request must include a physician's certification of illness or maternity and an expected return to work date. Medical leave shall be granted only after all sick leave benefits in excess of 48 hours have been exhausted for employees on the variable work week and 40 hours for employees on the 40 hour work week. Medical leave of absence for maternity reasons will be considered for only the period of actual employee disability as certified by a licensed physician. Employees may request a personal leave of absence, to commence upon the expiration of a medical leave of absence for maternity reasons, for the purpose of extended care of the infant.
- 20.1.2 <u>Authorization</u>. Prior to reinstatement from a medical leave of absence without pay, the City shall require acceptable medical authorization to return to work. A personal or medical leave of absence may be granted for a specific period greater than fourteen (14) calendar days but not in excess of six (6) continuous calendar months. The Fire Chief may grant) extension periods up to an additional six (6) continuous calendar months, to the original leave of absence with the approval of the Director of Human Resources, for a maximum total of twelve (12) continuous months. A period of less than fourteen (14) calendar days may be granted as excused Absent Without Pay ("AWP") at the discretion of the Fire Chief.
- 20.1.3 <u>Benefits</u>. All employee benefits, except as otherwise provided herein, shall cease during a personal leave of absence. Health and life insurance can be continued at

the employee's expense. In the event that an employee is granted a medical leave of absence, the employee shall continue to receive the same health and life insurance benefits as when the employee was active for a maximum of six (6) months. The total cost of this insurance shall become the expense of the employee if an extension to a leave of absence is granted. Failure of the employee to remit said costs to the City shall result in cancellation of insurance and the employee will be subject to any re-enrollment procedures required by the City's group insurance policies. Employees who are enrolled in dental and/or other optional insurance policies are responsible for contacting the applicable company to arrange for direct payments to continue coverage. Failure to make payments will result in the company canceling coverage. The length of any leave of absence (except for a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence) in excess of thirty (30) consecutive calendar days shall not be credited towards continuous service for the purpose of calculating longevity awards, bonus annual leave hours, salary review dates, or seniority.

- 20.1.4 Reinstatement of Position. The expiration of a leave of absence shall continue to be indicated on the Request for Leave of Absence Without Pay and/or the Request for an Extension to a Leave of Absence Without Pay as notification to the employee of the duration of the absence. Prior to the expiration date, the employee shall submit a Request for Reinstatement from a Leave of Absence form or a Request for an Extension to a Leave of Absence Without Pay form in accordance with Article 20.1.2 and 20.1.5. Upon the expiration of an approved leave of absence, the employee shall be reinstated to the classification occupied at the time the leave was granted. Seniority, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, rate of pay, and other benefits shall commence upon return to work. No position held by an employee who is on an approved leave of absence may be filled on permanent basis; however, the position may be filled on a limited term basis.
- 20.1.5 <u>Termination of Leave</u>. At the expiration of the Leave of Absence (or extension to the Leave of Absence), an employee will be terminated if the employee fails to submit and receive approval on the Request for Reinstatement from a Leave of Absence form in accordance with Article 20.1.4, or fails to submit and receive approval for

an Extension to Leave of Absence Without Pay form in accordance with Article 20.1.4 unless the employee has chosen to voluntarily resign or has retired. The failure of an employee to report promptly to duty at the expiration of the leave of absence shall be just cause for termination of the employment. An employee shall be subject to immediate termination if the employee accepts other employment contrary to the purposes of the leave of absence during the approved leave of absence.

- 20.2 <u>WORKERS' COMPENSATION LEAVE OF ABSENCE</u>. A Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence is provided to an employee who, after having reached maximum medical improvement or after twelve (12) months of temporary total disability has not been able to perform the duties of his/her position; and who is otherwise eligible as specified herein. This applies only when light duty, per Article 33.5, is not assigned. The Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence enables the employee to continue to recuperate.
- 20.2.1 <u>Definitions</u>. Maximum Medical Improvement The date after which recovery or lasting improvement can no longer reasonably be anticipated. Only the physician authorized by the City of Tampa Claims Section is authorized to determine a maximum medical improvement date.
- 20.2.2 <u>Temporary Total Disability</u> The recuperative period of time during which an individual is not able to perform duties at full capacity. Only the physician authorized by the City of Tampa Claims Section is authorized to determine the temporary total disability recovery date.
- 20.2.3 <u>Eligibility</u>. All employees, regardless of length of service, are eligible for a workers' compensation leave of absence. The decision to place an employee on this leave is at the discretion of the Fire Chief with the concurrence of the Director of Human Resources. This action does not require a request from the employee.
- 20.2.4 <u>Benefits</u>. Benefits shall be in accordance with medical leave of absence policies in 20.1.2. Continuous service (calculation of longevity award, bonus annual leave

hours, salary review dates, and seniority) is not adjusted due to a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence. The position held by an employee on this leave may be filled on a temporary basis as determined by the Director of Human Resources.

20.2.5 <u>Length</u>. A workers' compensation leave of absence may be granted for a specific period greater than fourteen (14) calendar days but not in excess of six (6) continuous calendar months. The Fire Chief may grant extension periods up to an additional six (6) continuous calendar months, to the original leave of absence with the approval of the Director of Human Resources, for a maximum total of twelve (12) continuous months. A period of less than fourteen (14) calendar days may be granted as excused Absent Without Pay ("AWP") at the discretion of the Fire Chief.

Exceptions.

- An employee who is determined by a workers' compensation treating a. physician to have reached maximum medical improvement and who does not file within forty-five calendar days a complete application (as determined by the Police & Fire Pension Fund) for disability retirement with the Board of Trustees of the Fire and Police Pension Fund shall be granted Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence per Article 20 (up to a period of twelve (12) continuous calendar months from the date of Maximum Medical Improvement). In the event that the twelve month period will expire before the Fire and Police Pension Board has made its final determination regarding retirement, the employee may apply for a special extension to the Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence. Prior to the expiration date, the employee must submit an Extension to a Leave of Absence Without Pay form. The Director of Human Resources may grant a request for a special extension to the Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence for a period of thirty (30) calendar days. The employee can apply for additional special extensions.
- b. An employee who has reached MMI as determined by a workers' compensation treating physician who files a complete application (as

determined by the Police & Fire Pension Fund) for disability retirement with the Board of Trustees of the Fire and Police Pension Fund within forty-five (45) calendar days of reaching maximum medical improvement, shall be granted a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence. Extensions shall be granted up to thirty (30) calendar days following final action by the Board of Trustees of the Fire and Police Pension Fund on the application for disability retirement; provided however, that under no circumstances shall the Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence exceed fifteen (15) continuous calendar months unless a special extension is granted by the Director of Human Resources.

- c. The time periods listed above shall also apply to Light Duty in Lieu of Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence (Article 33.5).
- 20.2.6 <u>Reinstatement</u>. Any reinstatement shall require acceptable medical substantiation by the examining physician. If the employee's physical condition is such that the employee is able to perform the job, the employee will be reinstated to the classification occupied at the time the leave was granted. All benefits shall commence again when an employee is reinstated to a former or new position.
- 20.2.7 <u>Termination of Leave</u>. At the expiration or termination of the workers' compensation leave of absence (or Light Duty in Lieu of Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence per Article 33.5), an employee will be terminated unless the employee has returned to full duty with the City of Tampa employment or has chosen to voluntarily resign or has retired. Should the employee retire or resign, no effect on the employee's pension claim shall occur subject to the provisions of 20.2.4 or any other applicable provisions of the Agreement. An employee shall be subject to immediate termination if the employee accepts other non-City employment contrary to the purposes of the leave of absence during the approved leave of absence. The preceding sentence shall not be applicable to the seeking or acceptance of employment pursuant to the wage loss provisions of the Workers' Compensation Act provided that the employee notifies the City of the seeking and acceptance of such employment.

ARTICLE 21 MILITARY LEAVE

- 21.1 <u>Annual Military Leave</u>. Annual military leave due to the request of the armed forces to fulfill regular military duties, field training, and/or military obligations, and not exceeding 240 hours in one calendar year shall be provided to employees.
 - (1) All employee benefits, including pay, shall continue at the same rate during annual military leave
 - (2) Upon return from annual military leave, the employee shall return to the same position held prior to taking leave. An employee with temporary status shall be allowed to return to the position held prior to military leave provided the position has not been eliminated during the leave.
- 21.2 <u>Military Leave of Absence</u>. A military leave of absence shall be granted according to federal and state regulations. The employee has the option to use all accumulated annual leave prior to the military leave of absence. Any sick leave accumulated prior to the military leave of absence shall remain available to the employee upon reinstatement.

ARTICLE 22 HOLIDAYS

- 22.1 <u>Designated Holidays</u>. The eleven (11) days during the fiscal year specified by the City to be official holidays shall be observed and shall be posted within thirty (30) days of determination. One additional holiday shall be awarded as a Floating Holiday as provided in 22.6 below.
- 22.2 <u>Calculation of Pay</u>. Each employee who is on a variable work week schedule shall receive an additional 9.6 hours of pay for each of said holidays.
- 22.3 In order for an employee assigned to the forty hour work week to receive the holiday off with pay, the employee shall have worked the last scheduled work day before, and the first scheduled work day after the designated holiday, unless the absence has been authorized in writing by the department. An authorized absence is any absence other than Absence Without Leave (AWL). Eligible employees who are not required to work on a holiday when it falls on a regularly scheduled work day shall receive 8 hours of compensation at the regular rate of pay. Employees required to work on a designated holiday shall receive compensation for all hours worked in addition to the 8 hours of compensation at the regular rate of pay.
- 22.4 In the event that a designated holiday occurs when an employee assigned to the forty hour work week is on authorized sick or annual leave, the employee shall receive holiday compensation at the regular rate and will not be charged sick or annual leave for that day.
- 22.5 When necessary the Fire Chief shall rotate the three combat platoons to prevent the personnel of any one platoon from working on Christmas Day more than one time in any three year period. This shall occur during leap year as determined by the Fire Department and corresponding to a date when the payroll and Kelly cycles end or begin on the same day. The leap year rotation shall be accomplished by all three shifts working eight (8) hours during one 24-hour period. The three shifts may not necessarily work in

the normal sequence. The maximum number of employees per shift that will be allowed off on annual leave shall be equal to the scheduling cap specified in Article 15.9. Employees actually working the additional eight (8) hours shall be compensated with compensatory time at 100% or 150% dependent on the employee's overtime status. Any accrued compensatory time must be utilized prior to the use of annual leave.

- 22.5.1 Employees who normally would have been on a Kelly Day during the shift rotation day will not be required to report to work on the shift rotation day.
- 22.5.2 The shift working the 24 hour period prior to the rotation shall remain on duty until 1530 hours. Employees on Kelly Day for the prior period shall report at 0730 hours. Employees with previous approved annual leave for 8 hours may be off duty.
- 22.5.3 One shift shall work an eight (8) hour shift from 1530 to 2330 hours during the 24 hour leap year rotation.
- 22.5.4 The final shift shall work from 2330 hours to 0730 hours (next day). Employees with previously approved annual leave for eight (8) hours may be off duty. This shift shall continue to work the following 24 hour shift unless the day is a regularly assigned Kelly Day. Employee on their regularly assigned Kelly Day on the day prior report for duty at 0730.
- 22.5.5 Exchange of Time and Use of Sick Leave shall follow normal policy throughout the shift rotation period. If an employee is approved sick or annual leave on the shift rotation day, the time shall be indicated as EOS or EOA and the time is deducted from the leave account without additional pay.
- 22.6 <u>Floating Holiday</u>. Employees with one year of continuous service may request to observe one Floating Holiday during the payroll fiscal year in addition to the eleven designated holidays specified in 22.1. A Floating Holiday shall be taken as time off with pay for one 9.6 hour increment for employees assigned to the variable work week schedule or one 8.0 hour increment for employees assigned to the forty hour work week

schedule and shall be requested in advance on the appropriate form and is not authorized without the express approval of the department. Floating Holiday time off shall not count as hours worked for purposes of overtime pay. In the event that an employee fails to utilize the Floating Holiday within the payroll fiscal year, there shall be no carry over of the unused time to the next payroll fiscal year nor cash payment in lieu of usage. Employees shall not be eligible for payment of unused Floating Holiday time upon separation from employment.

22.7 The holiday pay provided for in this Article will be included in earnings subject to deduction for pension fund payment.

ARTICLE 23 LAYOFF AND RECALL

- 23.1 <u>Definition</u>. A layoff is a reduction in the number of employees within the Department due to lack of work, lack of funds, or for any reason other than the acts or delinquencies of the employees. The City will lay off employees as hereinafter provided.
- 23.2.1 Order of Layoff. Upon determination that layoff is necessary, the Director of Human Resources will develop a list of employees, ranked in the order in which they are to be laid off. The first name on the list will be the first laid off. The procedure to be used in developing the layoff list is as follows:
 - (1) Rank ordering of all employees in each classification within the department where layoff is to occur by classification/assignment seniority.
 - (2) The Department Head may request exemption from layoff for specific employees possessing critical skills. Such requests must be thoroughly documented and clearly establish that the particular operational functions are essential and could not be satisfactorily assumed by any other personnel. The submission of such a request is not an assurance that exemption will be granted, or the extent to which such consideration will be given by the Director of Human Resources.

An employee who would have been laid off shall be entitled to bump an employee in a lower classification in the Department if the employee:

- (1) has more seniority than the employee to be bumped,
- (2) had regular status in the lower classification, and
- (3) is capable of performing the work of the lower classification.

A bumped employee can exercise the same bumping privilege into a lower class of work in the Department.

- 23.2.2 Entrance probationary employees and fire recruits shall be laid off prior to any regular employee.
- 23.3 <u>Notice of Layoff</u>. Employees being laid off shall be given twenty-one (21) calendar days' written notice in advance. The Union shall be furnished a copy of such notice.
- 23.4 Order of Recall. Employees shall be recalled from layoff in reverse order of the order of their layoff provided that they are currently qualified to perform the work in the job classification to which they are recalled as provided by this Article. No new employee shall be hired until the employee on layoff has been given the opportunity to return to work; provided that after twelve (12) months of layoff such re-employment rights shall cease.

Employees on layoff status may voluntarily attend applicable training/continuing education to maintain their state certification. The attendance will be on the employees' own time.

- 23.5 <u>Employment Status</u>. An individual who has been laid off shall not be considered as having completely terminated from the City's employment so long as the individual remains on a preferential re-employment list. However, when an individual's name is removed from the preferential list because he rejects an offer of re-employment or otherwise removed due to death or disability, the removal of the name from the lists shall constitute complete termination from employment.
- 23.6 <u>Benefit Status</u>. During the period during which an employee remains on a preferential re-employment list, the employee shall not receive termination payments (i.e., annual leave, sick leave, pension). All benefits shall cease during the layoff period. Health and life insurance may be continued at the employee's expense.
- 23.7 <u>Retirement/Resignation</u>. Individuals who are identified for layoff who are eligible and choose to retire or take deferred retirement shall not be placed on preferential re-employment lists. Employees who retire or resign will be treated as in normal policies.

- 23.8 Recall Procedures. The City shall notify employees to be recalled by United States certified mail. All employees on layoff shall have the obligation of providing the City with their correct mailing address. A recalled employee shall immediately inform the City of his intent to accept or reject the recall order. An individual's name shall be removed from the preferential lists when the employee fails to respond within seven calendar days after the City's transmittal of the notice of recall or the employee notifies the City of acceptance of recall but fails to report at the specified time or the employee accepts or rejects any employment with the City or the employee has been on layoff for a period of one year.
- 23.9 <u>Calculation of Benefits</u>. For purposes of benefits, an individual recalled from a preferential employment list shall not suffer a break in service. However, the time spent on layoff greater than 30 days shall not be credited in the calculation of benefits.

ARTICLE 24 MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT

24.1 The City will reimburse an employee for the required use of the employee's own automobile after the employee has reported to duty. The rate per mile of reimbursement will be in accordance with the rate established by the City.

ARTICLE 25 MEDICAL INSURANCE

25.1 The City agrees to make available health and major medical insurance coverage for employees and their eligible dependents. Such coverage shall include hospitalization, medical, maternity, and major medical benefits.

Due to the rising costs of health insurance, the City shall retain the right to develop a change in plan design to reduce cost. Consideration for providing this benefit is included in the determination of wage rates contained herein.

- 25.2 The City agrees to continue to pay 100% for the employee's coverage and 50% for the cost of coverage for the employee's dependents for the health plan selected by the City. Any additional cost will be paid by the employee through payroll deductions.
- 25.3 In the case where both spouses are employed by the City of Tampa only one family plan is provided.
- 25.4 An employee who retires under a City of Tampa pension fund, or his/her spouse as long as the spouse receives pension payments, shall be allowed to retain the City's hospitalization/medical coverage, provided that the cost of such coverage shall be deducted from the pension check.
- 25.5 The City at its discretion may make available alternative health insurance coverage plans in which employees may choose to enroll. The City shall pay for the employee's coverage in the amount equal to the cost for single coverage provided in Article 25.2, whichever is less; the City shall pay for dependent coverage (including the employee coverage) in the amount equal to the cost for family coverage provided in Article 25.2. Any increased costs above the amounts specified herein shall be paid 100% by the employee through payroll deductions. The union shall continue to participate in the preparation of plan design and requests for proposals.

ARTICLE 26 LIFE AND AD&D INSURANCE

- 26.1 The City agrees to provide life and accidental death and dismemberment insurance for employees in the coverage amount equal to the employee's annual salary up to a maximum of \$200,000 each (\$300,000 total). The amount of the annual salary shall be as indicated in Appendix A based on the employee's grade and step. Consideration for providing this benefit is included in the determination of wage rates contained herein.
- 26.2 An employee who retires under a City pension plan shall have the right to retain the City's life insurance coverage in the amount of \$3,000.00. The payment for such coverage shall be deducted from the retiree's monthly pension allotment. The City shall explore the possibility of permitting retirees to purchase life insurance coverage in greater amounts and up to the amount the retiree received as an employee.

ARTICLE 27 UNIFORMS, SAFETY, SAFETY EQUIPMENT, AND HEALTH

- 27.1 The City agrees to provide such necessary safety equipment and protective clothing as to allow efficient operation and proper safety in accordance with applicable local, state and Federal safety standards. Lost or damaged safety items (City issued) shall be reported immediately to the employee's immediate supervisor. The Fire Department will provide replacement without unreasonable delay.
- 27.1.1 The City shall continue to provide, at no cost to the employee, the following items based on the employee's position: NFPA approved (at time of purchase) fire helmet; protective clothing including gender specific protective clothing, bunker pants, bunker coat, boots, gloves, individual S.C.B.A. facepieces/masks, non-latex gloves (specific minimum of P02), uniform covers (Tyvec suits or gowns) and Nomex hood (existing hoods to be replaced with cancer resistant hoods during the term of this Agreement); N-95 respirators (TB masks); eye protection; uniforms including shirts, pants, belt, and a combination windbreaker/winter jacket with hood; hearing protection/earplugs; and additional items determined by the Fire Chief. Replacement shall be provided at no cost to the employee for normal wear and tear, including t-shirts which will be replaced as needed. Shoes shall remain at the employee's own cost, styles to be determined by Labor Management Committee with the approval of the Fire Chief. Shoe covers shall be included with uniform covers as provided above. The City shall make available body armor for periods of civil disturbance. The City will maintain 50 sets of protective clothing in reserve to be used by employees when their protective clothing is in the process of being replaced, repaired, or decontaminated.
- 27.1.2 Firefighters will not be required to pick up uniforms or bunker clothing on their off-duty time. The City agrees that such items will be delivered to the employees while on duty, it being understood that nothing in this provision shall prohibit a firefighter at his own convenience from picking up such items during his off-duty time. If an error in size is caused by the firefighter, it shall be the firefighter's responsibility to correct the condition on his own time.

- 27.1.3 Upon an employee's disability retirement or longevity retirement of 20 or more years of service with the City under the pension plan, the employee shall retain his/her fire combat helmet as an award for years of service to the department.
- 27.2 Employees assigned to investigations work which requires the use of plain clothes shall be designated, at the sole discretion of the Fire Chief, as eligible for the Plain Clothes allowance. The plain clothes allowance shall be \$650 per fiscal year paid in one annual installment. Employees assigned to these positions after the annual payment shall receive a pro-rata payment for the remainder of the fiscal year. Said pro-rata payments shall be calculated on a monthly percentage and shall include a full month's payment for the first partial month of the designation.
- 27.3 Employees shall have a mandatory annual physical examination consistent with NFPA 1582 recommendations and the recommendations of the IAFC/IAFF Joint Labor Management Wellness Fitness Initiative coordinated via the Fire Department, Occupational Health Office. Any deviation from either of these standards shall be subject to resolution at the Labor-Management Committee. There will be no cost to the employee for the examination. This exam shall also meet the requirement for all employees assigned to, or utilized as the Hazardous Materials Team. The City will ensure that confidentiality is maintained when a copy of the results of the physical examination is forwarded to the employee. The employee shall review the results and follow-up on those indicating such a need as recommended by the examining physician. All physical examination reports will be maintained in a separate file at the Fire Department, Occupational Health Office consistent with local, state, and federal confidentiality laws/regulations and medical records standards.
- 27.3.1 The Fire Department has developed and implemented a Wellness and Fitness program consistent with the recommendations of the IAFC/IAFF Joint Labor Management Wellness Fitness Initiative. The program is a voluntary, non-punitive program provided however that prior to beginning the program, each employee must have taken the physical examination specified in Article 27.3 and receive a written evaluation from the physician before beginning the fitness program. The program includes baseline

fitness evaluation, individual fitness and training goals, follow-up fitness re-evaluations as needed by determination of the Fitness Team, educational in-service training and written materials on wellness topics, and quarterly and annual group and individual achievement awards. This program shall not substitute for nor impact the Incentive Leave Program (Article 35).

- 27.3.2 The Fitness Team is comprised of the Occupational Health Nurse and additional Fire departmental personnel so that 80% of the Fitness Team is comprised of uniform personnel. Fitness Team members shall be selected by a panel of union executive board members and Fire management (as designated by the Fire Chief).
- 27.3.3 Participation in the Fitness Program will be permitted on duty during specified fitness periods as determined by the Chief of Operations. Employees assigned to the forty (40) hour work week will not have fitness periods on duty but will be permitted to complete the fitness evaluations during regular work hours.
- 27.3.4 Any deviation from these standards shall be subject to resolution at the Labor-Management Committee. Both the Union and the City agree that monitoring occurs through the Labor-Management Committee.
- 27.4 Any time that the Fire Department acquires any information indicating that one or more employees has been exposed to a contagious or infectious disease in the performance of duties, the department shall promptly notify the employee. Upon request, the department shall furnish the employee any public information the department has regarding the incident.
- 27.5 In addition to any requirements by state or federal laws regarding the use of tobacco or tobacco products by firefighters or firefighter applicants, all employees hired on or after October 1, 1989, shall be non-smokers. As a condition of continued employment, said employees shall be required to refrain from smoking cigarettes, cigars, pipes or tobacco products of any kind at all times, whether on or off duty. Any employee hired on

or after October 1, 1989, who violates this provision will be subject to progressive discipline.

- 27.6 The Fire Department shall provide an annual flu shot to employees free of charge administered by the TFR Occupational Health Nurse. In the event that the Fire Department is unable to provide the flu shots directly, the department will reimburse employees for the cost of an annual flu shot up to a maximum of \$10.00 per fiscal year. The employee must submit a physician signed receipt to qualify for reimbursement. Reimbursement shall be limited to the actual cost of the flu shot and not other associated expenses.
- 27.7 The City shall continue to be in full compliance with the Needlestick Safety and Prevention Act (Pub.L. 106-403, 114 State. 1901, November 6, 2000) and O.S.H.A. Regulations concerning blood born pathogens (29CFR Part 1910.1030), respiratory protection (29CFR Part 1910 and 1926), and HAZWOPER (1910.120(f)/1926.65) and Noise (1910.95(g)/1926.52). The City will work toward full compliance with any changes that may occur to these specified regulations during the term of the Agreement.
- 27.8 The Labor-Management Committee will continue to meet to discuss items which the Union considers important to be included in the development of the department budget.

ARTICLE 28 PARKING

- 28.1 The City will exhaust all reasonable efforts to furnish adequate parking facilities to accommodate the personnel assigned to each station.
- 28.2 Employees who wish to park their vehicles at another fire station which they consider to be more secure may do so based upon availability of parking and the approval of the applicable Station Officers. Employees shall be responsible for their own transportation which shall be completed during off duty hours.
- 28.3 Elected union officials shall be provided with parking passes authorizing them to park in a designated Fire Rescue Visitor Parking spot without penalty or cost at Fire Station #1.

ARTICLE 29 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT/EDUCATION INCENTIVE/TRAINING

- 29.1 <u>Tuition Reimbursement Amount</u>. The City shall reimburse each employee for approved training up to a total of \$2,000 per fiscal year for undergraduate degree tuition fees, \$2,500 for master degree tuition fees, and \$3,000 for doctoral tuition fees. The City will not reimburse an employee for books, materials, application fees or transportation. Approved training shall include courses which are related to the employee's present job or to a promotional position which is offered by an approved technical or trade school or accredited college or university.
- 29.1.1 <u>Recipients of Scholarships</u>. An employee receiving a scholarship or grant for education may be eligible for reimbursement. The tuition reimbursement application and grant or scholarship documentation will be reviewed by the Department of Human Resource's Training and Development Unit for eligibility. Such scholarships and grants include, but are not limited to, G.I. benefits, social security benefits and tuition waivers.
- 29.1.2 <u>Cancellation of Approval</u>. An employee who retires, resigns or is dismissed from employment prior to the completion of an approved training course shall not be eligible for reimbursement. An employee who is laid off during the training shall be eligible for reimbursement upon successful completion of the training.
- 29.1.3 <u>Approval</u>. In order to receive reimbursement, the employee must fulfill the requirements as outlined by the Department of Human Resource's Training and Development Unit provided, however, that an employee shall be eligible after completion of six months of continuous service. The cumulative total reimbursement for bargaining unit employees shall not exceed \$150,000 per fiscal year.
- 29.2 <u>State Educational Incentive</u>. Pursuant to Florida State Statute Chapter 633.382, employees are compensated by the State of Florida for higher education in the field of Fire Science. Employees having a community college degree or equivalent receive \$50.00 per month; employees having a bachelor's degree receive \$110.00 per month.

The maximum amount any employee receives under FSS 633.382 is \$110.00 per month. The City of Tampa provides payments as required under FSS 633.382 and is reimbursed by the State. These benefits are directed and provided by State Law and are separate and apart from any Tuition Reimbursement Program sponsored by the City of Tampa. The parties recognize that should the State alter or cease the funding of this program, the City shall not be held responsible for payment of said funds.

- 29.3 <u>Service Training</u>. The City agrees to make a good faith effort to provide an average per employee of at least forty (40) hours of service training per year. The term service training shall include all training programs provided during working hours.
- 29.3.1 Training or courses which are required by law or by the Fire Chief for the employee's current position shall be City sponsored. Tuition or course costs for City sponsored training shall be at the expense of the City provided, however, if the employee fails to complete or pass the training, the employee shall be subject to disciplinary action. Time spent at City sponsored training during the employee's regular work hours shall be compensated at the employee's regular rate of pay. Time spent at City sponsored training beyond the employee's regular work hours (off duty) shall be credited to the employee as time worked and compensated per Article 9.
- 29.3.2 Training or courses for which an employee volunteers in order to improve skills or qualify for promotions shall be at the employee's own expense (see Tuition Reimbursement) and during off duty hours. Training required but not completed prior to initial employment, such as certifications, shall also be at the employee's own expense and during off duty hours.

ARTICLE 30 PERSONNEL RECORDS

- 30.1 Personnel records shall be kept confidential and not be released to any person except officials of the City, or in response to Court order, or as otherwise provided by law. However, employees may at their discretion waive this rule. The employee shall be provided one copy free of charge, upon request, at the time the document is issued. It shall be the right of any employee, or their legal representative, at reasonable times, to inspect and receive copies, at their own expense, of their own personnel files. The cost of such copies shall be per City policy (currently up to ten pages provided at no charge 15¢ for each additional page). Whenever a request is made to review an employee's personnel file, the City shall notify the employee of the request and the identity of the party making the request, to the extent such identity is known.
- 30.2 Employees shall be required to initial all entries into their pending evaluation file. The employee's initials do not necessarily constitute agreement with the entry, but constitute acknowledgement of the entry.

ARTICLE 31 DISCIPLINE

- 31.1 The parties recognize that the interest of the community and the job security of the employees depend upon the City's success in providing proper and efficient services to the community. To this end, the City and the IAFF encourage to the fullest degree, employee behavior which is positive and supportive of the goals of effective municipal management and public safety. The parties recognize the need for progressive and appropriate discipline when an employee's conduct and job performance are inconsistent with said goals.
- 31.2 No employee shall be disciplined except for just cause. Progressive and appropriate discipline will be administered according to the seriousness of the offense. Disciplinary actions shall include:
 - A. Oral counseling.
 - B. Written counseling.
 - C. Written reprimand.
 - D. Suspension.

It is agreed that the City shall consider the employees' assigned work schedule when determining the duration of a suspension. As the hourly rate for an employee assigned 80 hours is proportional to an employee on the variable (96) hours schedule, it is understood that 40 hours corresponds to 48 hours in pay respectively; that 8 hours corresponds to 9.6 hours respectively; and that one hour corresponds to 1.2 hours, etc. The City will indicate on the Notice of Disciplinary Action the number of "hours" of suspension rather than the term "days".

- E. Demotion.
- F. Dismissal.
- G. Training. Training costs shall be paid by the City.
- H. Payment of lost or damaged equipment due to willful misconduct or failure to take reasonable precautions up to a maximum of \$350. Such payment shall be made through payroll deductions not to exceed two (2) hours pay

per payroll period or such other payment method requested by the employee and approved by the Fire Chief (or designee). Upon separation any balance due shall be deducted from the employee's separation pay.

Level 1 responsibility shall be situations determined to be caused by willful misconduct and shall result in discipline including payment for the damage or loss up to a maximum of \$350. Level 2 responsibility shall be situations when willful misconduct did not occur but failure to take reasonable precautions existed, without extenuating circumstances, and shall result in discipline including payment for the damage or loss up to a maximum of \$200. Level 3 responsibility shall be situations of Level 2 except that extenuating circumstances existed and may or may not result in discipline.

- 31.3 Employees shall be furnished with a copy of any written reprimand or letter of counseling which they shall be required to sign. Signature shall serve as acknowledgment of receipt only, and shall not constitute acceptance of the disciplinary action. The President of the Union or designee may be present at all pre-disciplinary hearings regarding suspensions, demotions, and dismissals. A copy of the employee's notice of the pre-disciplinary hearing will be sent to the Union and will serve as notification. Rescheduling will occur only for reasonable circumstances for reasonable length of time. The President of the Union or designee may be present at all investigatory interviews when requested by the employee. Employees subject to interrogation are entitled to the provisions of the Firefighters' Bill of Rights as specified in Article 38, Formal Investigations.
- 31.4 The City shall forward to the Union a copy of written reprimands, suspensions, demotions, or dismissals issued to bargaining unit employees.
- 31.5 Written reprimands shall be indicated as void in the individual's personnel file after a one (1) year period has elapsed during which the individual has received no further disciplinary action. Letters of counseling shall be voided after a one (1) year period has elapsed during which the individual has received no further disciplinary action. Associated documents will also be voided in the file. The employee shall be responsible for bringing

their eligibility for voiding of documents to the attention of the City. Voided documents shall be forwarded to the City's Employee Relations Division for any retention deemed to be required pursuant to law.

- 31.6 Any employee who has been dismissed because of an arrest by any law enforcement agency, will be reinstated provided that the employee is acquitted after a trial on the merits or all charges are dismissed by the State Attorney's Office. The employee shall notify the Director of Human Resources (or designee) in writing of the request for reinstatement within seven (7) calendar days following the determination of acquittal and shall include proof of the acquittal.
- 31.7 The Notice of Disciplinary Action shall be presented to the employee within 180 days of the date the Fire Chief knew or received notice of the action giving rise to the discipline.

ARTICLE 32 PROMOTIONS

- 32.1 Selection for promotional vacancies shall consider skills and other relevant factors. Selection of an employee for promotion shall be at the sole discretion of the Fire Chief.
- 32.2 It is understood that promotion decisions are judgments which incorporate the criteria stated in 32.1 (above) and that only the promotional process, and not professional judgments, are grievable under the appropriate provisions of this Agreement.
- 32.3 Upon expiration of a current eligibility list, employees will be certified on the next applicable promotional eligibility list in the manner provided in the Civil Service Law, rules and regulations of the City of Tampa using the Rule of 5 in lieu of the Rule of 6. Employees with a score of 60 or higher and who meet the minimum years for promotional eligibility (see below) shall be awarded 1.5 points for each year of service beyond the minimum years of eligibility up to a maximum of 15 points and shall be eligible for the applicable classification. Said list shall be in effect for two years from the date of certification. Whenever a vacancy is to be filled, the Department of Human Resources shall certify to the Fire Department the Fire eligibles ranking highest on the appropriate list. Two additional names will be certified for each additional vacancy. No effort will be made to break tie scores for the first and last vacancies. Intermediate tie scores will be counted on a one-for-one basis. Employees with tie scores shall be listed horizontally to indicate the tied positions.

TITLE

Driver Engineer

Asst. Fire Inspector/Investigator

Paramedic

Rescue Lieutenant

MINIMUM YEARS FOR ELIGIBILITY

4 years

4 years and hold state certification

1 year and hold state certification

4 years including 3 endorsed as an

Acting Rescue Lieutenant; Must currently

be a Paramedic (F-4) to sit for exam and

to be promoted

Fire Captain 8 years including 3 as Driver Engineer or

Rescue Lieutenant; Must currently be a

Driver Engineer or Rescue Lieutenant to

sit for exam and to be promoted

Fire Inspector/Investigator 8 years including 3 as Assistant

Inspector/ Investigator; Must currently be an Assistant Inspector/Investigator to sit

for exam and to be promoted

Fire Inspections Supervisor 12 years including 3 as a Fire Inspector

/Investigator; Must currently be a Fire Inspector/Investigator to sit for exam and

be promoted

Fire Investigations Supervisor 12 years including 3 as Fire Investigator;

Must currently be a Fire Inspector/ Investigator to sit for exam and to be

promoted

District Fire Chief 12 years including 3 as Captain; Must

currently be a Captain to sit for exam and

to be promoted

Only service as a certified firefighter (non-civilian) at Tampa Fire Rescue will be included in crediting of the minimum years. The qualifications to sit for promotional examinations shall not be altered.

32.4 Promotional Exams. All promotions shall require a written test provided however if there are five (5) or fewer qualified candidates or if the number of candidates does not exceed the number of vacancies, the written test requirement is waived and all qualified candidates will be placed on the eligibility list in order of seniority. For the position of Driver Engineer (grade F-3), sources shall be limited to the SOG's and rules and regulations, and the collective bargaining agreement. For the position of Paramedic

(grade F-4) sources shall be limited to the SOG's and rules and regulations, Medical Protocol, collective bargaining agreement. For the position of Rescue Lieutenant (grade F-5) sources shall be limited to the SOG's, rules and regulations, Medical Protocol, NFPA Company Officer and collective bargaining agreement. For positions above Rescue Lieutenant (grades above F-5) sources shall be limited to the SOG's, rules and regulations, NFPA Company Officer and collective bargaining agreement. At least four (4) months prior to promotional tests, the City shall notify the IAFF of methods of tests to be used, sources to be studied and the date of the test. The promotional exam shall be weighted as 100% with education points and seniority points added after a grade of at least 60% is obtained. Seniority points, if applicable, shall be determined as provided in Article 32.3. Education points, if applicable, shall be determined as provided in Appendix G. On promotional exams with more than one test component, each component will be weighted equally (for example, for a four component promotional exam, each component will be weighted 25%; for a two component promotional exam, each component will be weighted 50%). All parts will be completed and an average score of all components must equal 60% or greater to obtain education and seniority points.

32.5 The Fire Chief shall meet upon the request of an employee not selected for a promotion to provide recommendations for future promotions.

ARTICLE 33 WORKERS' COMPENSATION

33.1.1 Workers' Compensation. Employees injured on duty shall receive benefits provided by the Florida Statutes, Chapter 440, Workers' Compensation Law. The City provides that this benefit begins on the first day of line of duty disability, injury, or illness per Chapter 440, Workers Compensation. The City will make reasonable efforts to have at least three doctors for workers' compensation of which at least one will be board certified in occupational medicine. Employees may request and receive a change in their primary assigned Workers' Compensation doctor or assignment of a specialist in order to obtain a second opinion consistent with Florida Statues, Chapter 440, Workers' Compensation Law.

The Fire Department's Occupational Health Office shall be responsible for the departmental workers' compensation program in cooperation with the City's Human Resources – Risk Management Division and the third party administrator. The third party administrator will assign one or more adjusters to work with the Occupational Health Office. The Occupational Health Office will coordinate medical case management consistent with Florida Statutes, Chapter 440, Workers' Compensation Law.

- 33.1.2 Holiday pay shall be treated as a benefit which is paid during the work week in which a City holiday occurs even when the employee is on Workers' Compensation. Payment shall be on the basis of the employee's work shift so that if the employee on Workers' Compensation had been at work at the time of the holiday, then payment shall be calculated pursuant to Article 22 at the employee's rate of pay on the date of the accident. Holiday pay shall be considered earnings subject to deduction for pension.
- 33.2 <u>Light Duty</u>. In the event that an employee is at any time determined by the City's designated Workers' Compensation physician to be able to perform light duty work as a result of an on-the-job injury, the City will evaluate the specific light duty restrictions and may place the employee in any City light duty job if one is available. However, the City is under no obligation to create light duty for an employee. Should an employee be

placed on light duty and such duty becomes subsequently no longer available, then the City may terminate or change the light duty assignment. The provision of light duty for an employee shall not set precedent for provision of light duty for another employee. Any light duty assignment shall be within the limitations specified by the workers' compensation treating physicians.

- 33.2.1 In the event that a physician changes an employees' duty status without first examining the employee prior to the change, the employee shall have the right to request an examination by the physician. The City will endeavor to schedule this examination expeditiously, however, the inability to do shall not unduly delay the change of duty status. The City reserves the right to select an alternate qualified physician for this examination when necessary.
- 33.3 <u>Supercompensation</u>. Employees, who are injured on duty and who are not assigned to light duty per Article 33.2, shall receive supercompensation for temporary total disabilities up to a period of twelve (12) consecutive calendar months.
- 33.3.1 Supercompensation, when added to Workers' Compensation, shall equal the employee's "take home salary". "Take home salary" shall be defined as the employee's base salary (as determined from the amount of salary for the respective grade and step of the employee) minus the amount deducted from the salary for pension contributions and minus the amount deducted from the salary for federal withholding taxes. In the event that an employee's Workers' Compensation is reduced per state law, the amount of Supercompensation shall not exceed the amount the employee would have received but for the reduction.
- 33.3.2 Supercompensation shall cease at the following time, whichever occurs first:
 - a. The employee reaches maximum medical improvement, or
 - b. the employee has received supercompensation for twelve (12) consecutive months as defined below, or
 - c. The employee has returned to full duty, or full time light duty.

In calculating the twelve (12) consecutive calendar months, the following shall apply:

- a. An employee who has a workers' compensation injury who returns to full duty, and who is later taken off full duty by a workers' compensation treating physician shall be entitled to supercompensation for a period of twelve (12) consecutive calendar months from the date the employee was taken off full duty, or the date of maximum medical improvement, whichever occurs first.
- b. An employee who has a workers' compensation injury who returns to either part-time light duty or full-time light duty, and who is later taken off light duty by a workers' compensation treating physician shall be entitled to supercompensation for a period of twelve (12) consecutive calendar months from the date the employee was taken off full duty, or the date of maximum medical improvement, whichever occurs first.
- c. Subsequent injuries or re-injury shall be considered new injuries for purposes of supercompensation, and for purposes of calculating the "twelve (12) consecutive calendar month."
- 33.3.3 The total amount paid for Workers' Compensation, supercompensation, and holiday pay shall not exceed the amount of salary such employee would have received had the employee not been on Workers' Compensation.
- 33.3.4 An employee who has not reached maximum medical improvement, but who is on part-time light duty, shall receive supercompensation in an amount which, when added to light duty pay, shall equal the employee's "take home salary" in effect on the date of the accident as specified in Article 33.3.1.
- 33.4 <u>Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence</u>. As specified in Article 20, Leave of Absence without Pay, an employee who reaches maximum medical improvement, or has remained on Temporary Total Disability for twelve months may be placed on a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence.

- and 20.2.7 shall apply the Lieu of Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence. An employee who reaches maximum medical improvement, or has remained on Temporary Total Disability for twelve months shall not be placed on a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence if the employee is on light duty or returns to work on light duty as of the date the Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence would have commenced. The City shall notify the employee in writing that the light duty is provided in lieu of the Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence for a period of up to six months with two three months extensions permitted the same as provided for the Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence. At the expiration of the time period for which the employee would have been on a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence but for the light duty, the provisions of 33.6 and 20.2.7 shall apply the same as if the employee had been on a Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence.
- 33.6 It is further agreed that through the provisions for light duty (Article 33.2) and Light Duty in Lieu of Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence, the City intends to minimize payments for supercompensation aggressively. In the event that an employee has reached MMI, the employee shall be responsible for reporting the MMI status to the Personnel Chief and shall make restoration to the City of any supercompensation payments made after the date the employee reached MMI.
- 33.7.1 <u>Retirement</u>. In the event that an employee applies for disability retirement with the Fire and Police Pension Board and there is disagreement regarding disability between the pension physicians and Workers' Compensation physicians, the following shall apply:
 - a. In the event that the pension physicians deny a disability retirement and the Workers' Compensation physician agrees to return the employee to full duty, then all Workers' Compensation benefits shall cease and the employee will return to full duty. Failure to return to duty on the date specified shall result in dismissal.

- b. In the event that the employee is denied a disability pension on the grounds that the employee has reached maximum medical improvement but is not disabled, then thirty (30) days following final action of the Pension Board, the employee's Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence shall terminate and the provision of Article 20.2.7 shall apply. It is the intent of this provision that the decision of the Pension Board as to the existence of such a disability shall be binding upon the City and the employee for the purpose of determining continued eligibility for Workers' Compensation Leave of Absence or medical substantiation for return to full duty as specified in Article 20.2.6, but for no other purpose.
- 33.7.2 If the employee is entitled to wage-loss benefits under s. 440.15(3) and/or permanent total disability benefits under s.440.14 (1), F.S. and City of Tampa Pension Benefits, such City of Tampa Benefits shall be primary and the wage-loss benefits or permanent total disability benefits shall be supplemental only. The sum of the City of Tampa Pension Benefits and wage-loss benefits and/or permanent total disability benefits shall not exceed 100% of the employee's average weekly wage, and in no event shall the offset work to reduce said benefits below the average weekly wage.
- 33.8 The parties agree that all disputes regarding issues covered by Ch. 440, Florida State Statutes shall be handled exclusively through mechanisms provided under Ch. 440, Florida State Statute and that those issues shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure.

ARTICLE 34 MISCELLANEOUS

- 34.1 The City agrees that no member of the bargaining unit shall be responsible for the maintenance and cleaning of the third floor of the headquarters building. The City further agrees that personnel assigned to No.1 (one) station shall not be required to refuel, clean or maintain vehicles used by administrative personnel or fire prevention personnel.
- 34.2 The City shall continue to permit employees to utilize Exchange of Time in order to vote in local, state or federal elections before reporting for duty. It is the responsibility of the individual employees of the on-coming platoon who wish to vote, to make arrangements to have their time covered per Article 9.7 in order to vote prior to coming on duty.
- 34.3 Fire Station Equipment. The City shall continue to provide and maintain all equipment and/or supplies provided to the Fire Stations at the beginning of negotiations of this agreement except for trash compactors and garbage disposals. Any changes to this section shall be recommended by the Labor Management Committee. Disputes regarding this section shall be resolved by the grievance procedure as specified in Article 5 of this Agreement.
- 34.4 The City shall continue to provide for lawn care to avoid the use of sworn fire personnel.
- 34.5 The City shall continue to maintain the Fire Rescue Honor Guard with a minimum of 20 positions. The Honor Guard will continue to operate in accordance with SOG.
- 34.6 The City shall work with the union through the Labor Management Committee to explore options for recommendations to the Fire Chief regarding the security of assigned equipment.

ARTICLE 35 INCENTIVE LEAVE

- 35.1 Employees on the variable work week schedule shall receive 6.0 hours of Incentive Leave for successfully completing exceptional performance for physical fitness for a maximum of 36.0 hours per fiscal year. Employees on the forty hour work week shall receive 5.0 hours of Incentive Leave for successfully completing exceptional performance for physical fitness for a maximum of 30.0 hours per fiscal year.
- 35.2 Employees on a voluntary basis who successfully complete the advanced physical fitness test shall be eligible. Tests are provided every six months (March and September). Employees must attempt to succeed in all three components as listed below and shall receive Incentive Leave for each successful component. Successful completion of the advanced physical fitness test shall be as follows:
 - A) Push Ups or Chair Dips 40 repetitions (2 minutes)

B) 1.5 Mile Run Age 18 - 25 Under 10:45

Age 26 - 29 Under 11:00

Age 30 - 34 Under 11:20

Age 35 - 39 Under 11:45

Age 40 - 44 Under 12:15

Age 45- 49 Under 13:00

Age 50+ Under 13:15

or Bike Rides 12 minutes Age 18 - 29 3.7

Age 30 - 39 3.6

Age 40 - 49 3.5

Age 50+ 3.3

C) Sit Ups 40 repetitions (2 minutes)

Note: The alternative to sit ups will be maintained unless determined otherwise by the Labor Management Committee.

35.3 In the event that at the end of the calendar year the employee has not utilized accrued Incentive Leave, said remaining Incentive Leave shall be paid at the employee's regular rate of pay.

ARTICLE 36 LABOR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 36.1 There shall be a Labor Management Committee established to consist of four (4) non-bargaining unit members appointed by the Fire Chief and four (4) members appointed by the Union and one (1) Employee Relations representative. The purpose of this Committee shall be to meet monthly and confer concerning problems of a general nature, including safety, which from time to time arise in the Department and to make recommendations to the Fire Chief concerning resolution of any such problems. In order to present said recommendations to the Fire Chief, the Committee shall notify the Chief of the need to meet and at such time present the recommendations. The Committee shall determine its own rules of operation. Should the meeting occur during a member's tour of duty, there shall be no loss of pay or benefits.
- 36.2 In any matter involving a deficiency in an item of equipment supplied by the City where specific action has been requested in writing and no such action has been taken within a reasonable time of the date of submission, the memorandum shall be submitted to the Labor Management Committee for such recommendatory action as they shall deem appropriate.

ARTICLE 37 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM/DRUG TESTING

- 37.1 <u>Purpose</u>. The City of Tampa and the Union recognize that an employee's personal problems may result in a less than optimum, and even a declining, job performance. These personal problems may include, but are not limited to, emotional or behavioral problems, marital or family problems, legal problems, financial problems, alcohol abuse, or drug abuse. In keeping with the mission of the City to provide the finest of services to the citizens of Tampa and recognizing the importance of the City's human resources, the City has established an Employee Assistance Program (EAP). The goal of this program is to restore the employee to full productivity by offering guidance and referral to qualified, professional providers. It is the City's policy that an employee's participation in the EAP will not jeopardize his or her future opportunities with the City, however, the EAP shall not replace, alter or be used to circumvent the City's discipline administration policy.
- 37.1.1 <u>Substance Abuse</u>. The City of Tampa and the Union have grave concerns regarding the abuse of alcohol and other drug substances in the community. It is understood that City policy prohibits the unauthorized consumption, possession, or being under the influence of drugs or intoxicating substances while on duty. Prohibited possession excludes City supplied and authorized rescue supplies. In accordance with Florida Statute 112.0455, the term "drug" means alcohol, including distilled spirits, wine, malt alcohol beverages and intoxicating liquors, amphetamines, cannabinoids, cocaine, phencyclidine (PCP), hallucinogens, methaqualone, opiates, barbituates, benzodiazepines, synthetic narcotics, designer drugs, or a metabolite of any substance listed herein.
- 37.2 <u>Eligibility</u>. Employees enrolled in the City's group health insurance plan are eligible for EAP services. Spouses and/or dependents of employees are eligible if the employee is enrolled in the City's group health insurance program with family coverage. Any eligible employee or family member may directly seek EAP services for any personal problem. Such problems may include, but are not limited to: depression, anxiety, stress or

psychiatric illnesses, difficulties stemming from alcohol or drug abuse or the emotional impact of problems of another person.

- 37.3 <u>Program Access</u>. Eligible employees or family members may access EAP services by:
 - A. <u>Self-Referral</u>. Employees or eligible family members may voluntarily and directly contact the EAP for services. Employees who utilize self-referral due to a substance abuse problem shall be eligible to utilize sick leave or other appropriate paid leave (or a medical leave of absence if eligible) in order to enroll in an appropriate program. Upon completion of the program, the City shall require medical substantiation regarding fitness for duty and resolution of drug or alcohol use or dependency prior to reinstatement from the leave. Reinstatement shall be conditioned on continued monitoring and testing to ensure continued and complete recovery. An employee who fails to complete the program or who resumes use of said substances after the original reinstatement shall be subject to discipline up to and including dismissal.

B. Supervisor/Department Director Mandatory Referral. A supervisor

/department director, noting a declining job performance on the part of an employee which is not related to substance abuse, may mandate referral of an employee to the EAP for assessment, further referral or counseling services.

- All mandatory referrals to the EAP must be coordinated through the City's Employee Relation's Division.
- 2) An employee's job will not be jeopardized by such a referral or by the employee's refusal to participate in the EAP. However, an employee's job may be jeopardized by failure to improve job

performance, and such failure will be handled according to the discipline procedures.

- C. Mandatory Referral for Substance Abuse Testing. The City has the authority to require an employee to complete physical examinations to ensure that the employee is fit for duty. This includes, but is not limited to, physical examinations to determine if a specified employee is under the influence of alcohol on duty; to determine any abuse of prescription or non-prescription drugs; and, to determine any use of illegal drugs or substances. Substance Abuse Testing is provided in section 37.6
- 37.4 Confidentiality. The confidentiality of EAP services is absolutely essential to the program's acceptance and success. Participants have the right to complete confidentiality concerning their use of the program, the content of the sessions, and all existing case information and records. Regardless of the nature of the referral, the EAP Counselor may not disclose any information about a participating employee to the City without the employee's written consent. In the case of a supervisory referral, the EAP Counselor may communicate to the City that the employee has or has not kept appointments. The EAP Counselor may also, with the employee's consent, work with the employee and the supervisor in defining the job performance difficulties and in setting work goals for improvement. All counseling records and information from employee visits are the property of the EAP.
- 37.5 <u>Appointments</u>. Appointments may be scheduled Monday through Friday between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m. An EAP staff member is available on a 24 hour basis by beeper service for life threatening situations.
 - A. Employees and eligible family members may see an EAP staff member or other participating practitioner for up to three (3) sessions at no cost to the employee. Subsequent treatment sessions are available to the participating employee or family member. These services are generally at discounted rates and may be partially reimbursable under the City's Group Health Care

Plan. The EAP will endeavor to refer participants to providers covered by the City's health insurance plan, including those listed as Preferred Providers.

- Supervisory referrals may be scheduled during the employee's work hours. Self-referrals are to be scheduled during the employee's own time through the use of paid or unpaid leave, as applicable.
- 37.6 <u>Drug Testing</u>. The requirement of an employee to complete a drug test shall be based on reasonable suspicion and/or the Random Substance Abuse Examination Program.

A. Reasonable Suspicion.

1) The requirement of an employee to complete a drug or alcohol screen or test shall be based on the standard of "reasonable suspicion". Reasonable suspicion is based on a belief that an employee is using or has been using drugs based on specific objective and articulable facts and reasonable inferences drawn from those facts in light of experience.

Reasonable suspicion requires a recommendation of a supervisor who is at least one level of supervision higher than the immediate supervisor of the employee in question. Among other things such facts and inferences may be based upon:

a) Observable phenomena while at work, such as direct observation of drug use or of the physical symptoms or manifestations of being under the influence of a drug. For example, physical symptoms commonly associated with drug usage such as slurred speech, altered motor skills, changes in attention span or attendance, changes in appetite or sleeping habits or other mannerisms or behavioral changes which indicate the suspicion of drug usage.

- b) Abnormal conduct or erratic behavior while at work or a significant deterioration in work performance.
- A report of drug use, provided by a reliable and credible source, which has been independently corroborated.
- e) Evidence that an individual has tampered with a drug test during his employment with the current employer.
- f) Information that an employee has caused, or contributed to, an accident while at work.
- g) Evidence that an employee has used, possessed, sold, solicited, or transferred drugs.
- The supervisor having reasonable suspicion of the use of alcohol or drugs shall immediately contact the Personnel Chief.
- 3) The Fire Department shall notify the City's Employee Relations Division and shall meet with and inform an employee that, in the opinion of the City, there is a basis for reasonable suspicion and of the City's intention to schedule a drug or alcohol screen or test. At said meeting, the City shall consider the comments from the employee regarding the matter and shall then make the determination of whether to proceed and require the screen or test. If it is determined, at

the sole discretion of the City, that a drug test will be required, the employee shall be immediately escorted to the appropriate facility for tests. Refusal by an employee to submit to said test shall be grounds for dismissal.

- 4) The employee shall not be allowed to drive. Prior to transport, the Fire Department shall obtain the employee's signature on the "Consent to Perform" and obtain a witness of the signature. The "Consent to Perform" must be presented upon arrival at the facility for testing.
- 5) All specimen collecting and testing shall be performed in accordance with FS 112.0455(8)(a) through (h). All positive initial shall be confirmed usina tests gas chromotography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) or an equivalent or more accurate scientifically accepted method approved by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services as such technology becomes available in a cost effective form. Pending the results of the test, the employee may be placed on sick leave. If the employee does not have a sufficient sick leave balance, the employee may be placed on annual leave or Absence Without Pay (AWP) when an insufficient annual leave balance exists.
- on sick leave (or a medical leave of absence if eligible when there is an insufficient leave balance) and shall be referred to the City's Employee Assistance Program (EAP) for counseling, further drug testing, and/or enrollment in an appropriate program. Upon completion of the program, the City shall require medical substantiation regarding fitness for duty and resolution of drug or alcohol use or dependency prior

to reinstatement from sick leave or the medical leave of absence. Reinstatement shall be conditioned on continued monitoring and testing to ensure continued and complete recovery. Only one such referral to the Employee Assistance Program shall be permitted. An employee who fails to complete the program or who resumes use of said substances after the original reinstatement to work shall be dismissed.

- 7) If an employee test negative, any paid or unpaid leave utilized pending the test results shall be corrected to regular pay status.
- B. Random Substance Abuse Program. Effective July 1, 2011, the City will implement the Random Substance Abuse Examination Program. The procedures and requirements for this program shall continue to be provided by TFR R&R 102.051 which shall continue to include the following requirements:
 - 1) Utilization of the services of The Randomizer (referred hereafter as the "vendor"), a third party contractor who will be responsible for the random selection process which shall occur on a bi-weekly basis to the Fire Personnel Chief via email:
 - a) In the event that it is already known by the Personnel Chief that the employee selected has separated from employment, is on workers' compensation or other approved leave for the two week period, the Personnel Chief shall notify the vendor to provide another employee name. The Personnel Chief shall document the reason for the request for the replacement name. This process shall be repeated until a name is provided that can result in testing.

- 2) A total of 26 employees shall be tested annually;
- The confidential notification of the employee selected shall be provided by R&R 102.051 and shall occur on the employee's first scheduled work shift for the week, with testing completed by 1200 hours;
 - a) In the event that the Personnel Chief, when serving notification becomes aware the employee is not at work or will not be available for the two week period, the Personnel Chief shall contact the vendor for a replacement name as provided above.
 - b) If the employee is not available on the employee's first scheduled work shift for the week, the Personnel Chief shall continue to maintain the confidentiality of the employee's name until the employee returns to a scheduled work shift during the two week period, at which time the testing process shall proceed. Documentation of the reason for the determination of the testing date (i.e. missed workdays) shall be completed by the Personnel Chief.
- 4) Upon completion of testing, the employee shall be relieved from duty (RFD) for the remainder of their work shift, reporting back to duty on their next scheduled duty shift;
- 5) Refusal to submit to the test shall be grounds for discipline up to and including dismissal;
- 6) A positive drug test will be reported for any urine drug test which has been verified by the Medical Review Officer if the testing laboratory

determines the specimen contains a drug (or metabolite) above the screening and confirmatory test threshold levels;

- 7) A negative drug test result will be reported for any urine drug test, which has been analyzed by the testing laboratory and found not to contain a drug (or metabolite) above the screening levels;
- 8) A negative test result will also be reported for any urine drug test result which has been analyzed by the testing laboratory and found to contain a drug (or metabolite) above the screening and confirmatory test threshold levels, if the Medical Review Officer subsequently determines the result is negative based on verification of prescription information or other acceptable verifiable explanations;
- 9) The drug testing/urine collection process including collection site chain of custody, facility, specimen minimum amounts and inspection, medical review officer procedures, retention of specimens and all other related matters shall be in accordance with F.S. 1112.0455 (8), (9), (12), and (13).
- 10) If an employee tests positive, the employee shall be placed on sick leave (or a medical leave of absence if eligible when there is an insufficient leave balance) and shall be referred to the City's Employee Assistance Program (EAP) for counseling, further drug testing, and/or enrollment in an appropriate program. Upon completion of the program, the city shall require medical substantiation regarding fitness for duty and resolution of drug or alcohol use or dependency prior to reinstatement from sick leave or the medical leave of absence. Reinstatement shall be conditioned on continued monitoring and testing to ensure continued and complete recovery. Only one such referral to the Employee Assistance Program shall be permitted. An employee who fails to complete the

program or who resumes use of said substances after the original reinstatement to work shall be dismissed.

CONSENT TO PERFORM

Employee Signature	
termination and may result in	esult for the drugs tested may be considered grounds for mandatory referral to the City of Tampa's Employee d satisfactory completion of any course of treatment
with the collection of the blood and	this consent form, refusal to consent to or cooperate fully d/or urine samples; or my refusal to authorize release of constitutes insubordination and is grounds for termination.
I furthermore authorize the releas procedure to the City of Tampa.	se of any and all information obtained during the testing
any.	
the City of Tampa, for the purpose	e of determining the presence of alcohol and/or drugs, i
	collection of blood and/or urine samples, as requested by

ARTICLE 38 FORMAL INVESTIGATIONS

38.1 The City shall adhere to the Firefighters' Bill of Rights, FS112.81-112.82, which provides as follows:

Whenever an employee is subjected to an interrogation, such interrogation shall be conducted in the following manner:

- (a) The interrogation shall be conducted at Fire Station #1.
- (b) No employee shall be subjected to interrogation without first receiving written notice of sufficient detail of the investigation in order to reasonably apprise the firefighter of the nature of the investigation. The employee shall be informed beforehand of the names of all complainants.
- (c) All interrogations shall be conducted at a reasonable time of day, preferably when the employee is on duty, unless the importance of the interrogation is of such a nature that immediate action is required.
- (d) The employee under investigation shall be informed of the name, rank, and unit of command of the person in charge of the investigation, the interrogators, and all persons present during any interrogation.
- (e) Interrogation sessions shall be of reasonable duration and the firefighter shall be permitted reasonable periods for rest and personal necessities.
 - (f) The employee being interrogated shall not be subjected to offensive language or offered any incentive as an inducement to answer any questions.

- (g) A complete record of any interrogation shall be made, and if a transcript of such interrogation is made, the employee under investigation shall be entitled to a copy without charge. Such record may be electronically recorded.
- (h) Upon the request of an employee who is the subject of an interrogation, the employee shall have the right to be represented by a representative of his choice including an attorney who shall be present at all times during such interrogation. Whenever such representation is not immediately available, the interrogation shall be postponed for a reasonable period in order to afford the employee the opportunity to a representative.
- (i) In any matter where a Firefighter is required to submit a written statement justifying or explaining his actions in a particular situation, the Firefighter, upon his request, shall be granted twenty-four (24) hours or until the start of his next scheduled shift, whichever is sooner, to submit such a statement.
- (j) Should an employee be charged with conduct unbecoming a Firefighter, the charge shall be specific in its allegations and shall describe the conduct which is the basis of the charge.

(k) Definitions

- (1) "Interrogation" means the questioning of an employee by the City in connection with a formal investigation or an administrative proceeding but shall not include arbitration or civil service proceedings. Questioning pursuant to an informal inquiry shall not be deemed to be an interrogation.
 - (2) "Administrative proceeding" means any nonjudicial hearing which may result in the recommendation, approval, or order of disciplinary action against, or suspension or discharge of, an employee.
- (3) "Formal investigation" means the process of investigation ordered by management personnel, after the management personnel have previously determined that

the employee shall be reprimanded, suspended, or removed, during which the questioning of an employee is conducted for the purpose of gathering evidence of misconduct.

- (4) "Informal inquiry" means a meeting by supervisory or management personnel with an employee about whom an allegation of misconduct has come to the attention of supervisory or management personnel, the purpose of which meeting is to mediate a complaint or discuss the facts to determine whether a formal investigation should be commenced.
- 38.2 When an employee is under investigation neither the employee, the union or other employee representative, nor any employee of the City shall make any public statements concerning the facts of the case until such time as the investigation has been concluded and action has been taken on result of such an investigation.
- 38.3 Employees will be afforded the right to have a Union representative present at any meeting when the employee reasonably believes that such a meeting might result in disciplinary action. This includes all meetings with Fire management personnel. It will be the employee's responsibility to notify the Union if representation is desired.

ARTICLE 39 PREVAILING RIGHTS

39.1 All rights and working conditions enjoyed throughout the Department by the employees at the present time and known to the Fire Chief or Chief of Operations, which are not included in this Agreement, shall be presumed to be reasonable and proper and shall not be changed by the City in an arbitrary or capricious manner; provided that nothing contained herein shall limit the City's right to establish or change working rules and regulations.

Prior to implementing any change in Tampa Fire Rescue SOG's effecting unit employees, the Union shall be afforded thirty (30) calendar days notice in advance of the implementation. Within this thirty (30) day notice period, the Union may notify the Fire Chief of its interest in discussing the matter. This same thirty (30) calendar day period shall be considered the time limit for filing a class action grievance at the first step. For non- SOG situations, within thirty (30) calendar days of the change or the date on which the Union knew or should have known of the change, the Union may notify the Fire Chief of its interest in discussing the matter. The same thirty (30) calendar day period shall be considered the time limit for filing a class action grievance at the first step.

Within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of notification from the Union of its interest in discussing either SOG or non-SOG issues, the Fire Chief and the Director of Human Resources shall meet with the Union in order to receive and review the Union's recommendation.

ARTICLE 40 AMENDMENT AND SEVERABILITY

- 40.1 This Agreement may be amended at any time by the mutual consent of the parties, but no such attempted amendment shall be of any force or effect until placed in writing and executed by each party hereto.
- 40.2 Each and every clause of this Agreement shall be deemed separable from each and every other clause of this Agreement to the end that in the event that any clause or clauses shall be finally determined to be in violation of any law, then and in such event such clause or clauses only, to the extent only that any may be so in violation, shall be deemed of no force and effect and unenforceable without impairing the validity and enforceability of the rest of the contract including any and all provisions in the remainder of any clause, sentence or paragraph in which the offending language may appear.
- 40.3 This exercise or nonexercise by the City of the rights covered by this Agreement shall not be deemed to waive any such right or the right to exercise them in some other way in the future.
- 40.4 In the event of invalidation of any Article or Section, both the City and the Union agree to meet within thirty (30) days of such determination for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such Articles or Sections.

ARTICLE 41 <u>DURATION, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION</u>

41.1 This Agreement shall be effective October 1, 2016 and shall continue in full force and effect until September 30, 2019. If an Agreement is not made by September 30, 2019, all articles in this contract shall remain status quo until an Agreement is made. At least ninety (90) days prior to the termination of this Agreement, either party hereto shall notify the other, in writing, of its intention to modify, amend or terminate this Agreement. Failure to notify the other party of intention to modify, amend or terminate, as hereinabove set forth, will automatically extend the provisions and terms of this Agreement for a period of one (1) year, and each year thereafter absent notification.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have affixed their signatures below:

LOCAL UNION # 754 INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIREFIGHTERS, AFL-CIO

Stephen Suarez, President

Joé Greco, Jr. Vice President

Ken Huff
Secretary-Treasurer

alund

Johnny Primus Executive Board CITY OF TAMPA

Bob Buckhorn, Mayor

Kimberly Crum

Director of Human Resources

Sarah F. Lang

Employee Relations Manager

Tom Forward Fire Chief

Nick Locicero

Asst. Fire Chief - Operations

Milton Jenkins

Asst. Fire Chief - Administration

Bryan Riley

Rescue/Special Ops Chief

APPENDIX A

F-1	Firefighter
F-3	Driver Engineer
	Asst. Fire Inspector
	Asst. Fire Investigator
F-4	Paramedic
F-5	Rescue Lieutenant
F-7	Fire Captain
	Fire Inspector/Investigator
	Training Officer*
	Emergency Equipment Medical Supply Officer*
	Medical Support Officer *
F-10	District Fire Chief
	Fire Inspections/Investigations Supervisor

*Assignments at the discretion of the Fire Chief

The following rates of pay shall be effective September 25, 2016

ш
莅
⋖
K
ပ

Step F-1	EMT1 EMT2 EMT3 1 16.58 17.16 17.77 18.38 41,383.68 42,831.36 44,353.92 45,876.48 47,	EMT2 17.16 1,831.36 4	EMT3 17.77 44,353.92	18.38		3 19.69 49,146.24	20.39 50,893.44	5 21.09 52,640.64 5	54,512.64	7 22.61 56,434.56	8 23.40 58,406.40 (9 24.19 50,378.24 62	10 25.05 524.80 64	11 25.94 ,,746.24 7	5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 21.09 21.84 22.61 23.40 24.19 25.05 25.94 30.53 Hourly* 52,640.64 54,512.64 56,434.56 58,406.40 60,378.24 62,524.80 64,746.24 76,202.88 Annual
<u>.</u>	23.59 24.42 25.28 26.16 58,880.64 60,952.32 63,098.88 65,295.36 67,	24.42),952.32 6	25.28 63,098.88	23.59 24.42 25.28 26.16 380.64 60,952.32 63,098.88 65,295.36	27.08 67,591.68	31.01 77,400.96	32.08 80,071.68	33.22 82,917.12							
7		47	20.60 51,417.60	3 4 20.60 21.32 51,417.60 53,214.72 58	23.56 58,805.76	24.39 60,877.44	7 25.24 62,999.04	26.13 55,220.48	27.05 67,516.80	10 27.99 69,863.04	8 9 10 11 26.13 27.05 27.99 28.95 33.76 65,220.48 67,516.80 69,863.04 72,259.20 84,264.96	12 33.76 34,264.96			
r.		9	24.39 50,877.44 63,	3 4 5 24.39 25.25 26.13 60,877.44 63,024.00 65,220.48	5 26.13 65,220.48	6 27.05 67,516.80	7 27.99 69,863.04	8 9 10 11 33.46 34.12 34.81 35.85 83,516.16 85,163.52 86,885.76 89,481.60	34.12 85,163.52	10 34.81 86,885.76	11 35.85 89,481.60				
F-7		-	30.49 76,103.04	3 4 30.49 31.55 76,103.04 78,748.80 81	32.65 81,494.40	6 34.94 87,210.24	7 36.16 90,255.36	8 38.74 96,695.04							
F-10		Φ	3 35.13 87,684.48	3 4 35.13 36.37 87,684.48 90,779.52 93,	37.66 93,999.36	8 38.96 97,244.16	7 8 40.32 43.12 100,638.72 107,627.52	8 43.12 107,627.52							
F-11						6 43.12 107,627.52	7 44.65 46.24 111,446.40	8 46.24 115,415.04							

Hourly rates are indicated based on 2496 hours annually and for computer purposes.
 Employees assigned to the 40 hour work week receive the same annual salary with applicable hourly rate adjustment. See Article 9.3. Bi-weekly payroll draw based on 96 hours.

GRADE

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 21.72 22.50 23.29 24.10 24.92 25.80 26.72 31.45 Hourly* 54,213.12 56,160.00 58,131.84 60,153.60 62,200.32 64,396.80 66,693.12 78,499.20 Annual		8 9 10 11 12 26.91 27.86 28.83 29.82 34.77 67,167.36 69,538.56 71,959.68 74,430.72 86,785,92	11 36.93 2.777.28			
7 23.29 58,131.84 6		10 28.83 71,959.68 7.	8 9 10 11 34.46 35.14 35.85 36.93 86,012.16 87,709.44 89,481.60 92,177.28			
6 22.50 56,160.00		9 27.86 69,538.56	9 35.14 87,709.44			
	8 34.22 85,413.12	8 26.91 67,167.36	8 34.46 86,012.16	8 39.90 99,590.40	8 44.41 110,847.36	8 47.63 118,884.48
4 21.00 52,416.00	7 33.04 82,467.84	7 26.00 64,896.00	7 28.83 71,959.68	7 37.24 92,951.04	7 41.53 44.41 103,658.88 110,847.36	7 45.99 47.63 114,791.04
3 20.28 50,618.88	6 31.94 79,722.24	6 25.12 62,699.52	6 27.86 69,538.56	6 35.99 89,831.04	6 40.13 100,164.48	6 44.41 110,847.36
2 19.59 48,896.64	5 27.89 69,613.44	5 24.27 60,577.92	5 26.91 67,167.36	33.63 83,940.48	38.79 36,819.84	
1 18.93 47,249.28	4 26.94 67,242.24	3 4 21.22 21.96 52,965.12 54,812.16 60,	3 4 25.12 26.01 62,699.52 64,920.96 67,	3 4 31.40 32.50 78,374.40 81,120.00 83,	3 4 36.18 37.46 90,305.28 93,500.16 96	
EMT3 18.30 45,676.80	3 26.04 64,995.84	21.22 52,965.12	3 25.12 62,699.52	3 31.40 78,374.40 81,	3 36.18 90,305.28	
EMT2 17.67 44,104.32	25.15 25.15 62,774.40					
EMT1 EMT2 EMT3 1 17.08 17.67 18.30 18.93 42,631.68 44,104.32 45,676.80 47,249.28 48	1 2 3 4 24.30 25.15 26.04 26.94 60,652.80 62,774.40 64,995.84 67,242.24 69,					
Step F-1	e.	4	ŗ.	F-7	F-10	7

* Hourly rates are indicated based on 2496 hours annually and for computer purposes. Employees assigned to the 40 hour work week receive the same annual salary with applicable hourly rate adjustment. See Article 9.3. Bi-weekly payroll draw based on 96 hours.

The following rates of pay shall be effective September 23, 2018

GRADE

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 22.48 23.29 24.11 24.94 25.79 26.70 27.66 32.55 Hourly* 56,110.08 58,131.84 60,178.56 62,250.24 64,371.84 66,643.20 69,039.36 81,244.80 Annual						
11 27.66 59,039.36						
10 26.70 56,643.20						
9 25.79 34,371.84 (12 35.99 39,831.04				
8 24.94 52,250.24 (11 30.86 77,026.56	38.22 35,397.12			
24.11 60,178.56		10 29.84 74,480.64	37.10 92,601.60			
53.29 23.29 58,131.84		9 28.84 71,984.64	9 36.37 90,779.52			
5 22.48 56,110.08	8 35.42 88,408.32	8 9 10 11 12 27.85 28.84 29.84 30.86 35.99 69,513.60 71,984.64 74,480.64 77,026.56 89,831.04	8 9 10 35.67 36.37 37.10 38.22 89,032.32 90,779.52 92,601.60 95,397.12	8 41.30 103,084.80	8 45.96 114,716.16	8 49.30 123,052.80
21.74 54,263.04	7 34.20 85,363.20	7 26.91 67,167.36	7 29.84 74,480.64	7 8 38.54 41.30 96,195.84 103,084.80	7 8 42.98 45.96 107,278.08 114,716.16	7 8 47.60 49.30 118,809.60 123,052.80
3 20.99 52,391.04	6 33.06 82,517.76	6 26.00 64,896.00	6 28.84 71,984.64	6 37.25 92,976.00	6 41.53 103,658.88	6 45.96 114,716.16
2 20.28 50,618.88	28.87 72,059.52	5 25.12 62,699.52	5 27.85 69,513.60	5 34.81 86,885.76	5 40.15 100,214.40	
1 19.59 48,896.64	4 27.88 69,588.48	4 22.73 56,734.08	4 26.92 67,192.32	4 33.64 83,965.44	4 38.77 96,769.92	
EMT3 18.94 47,274.24	3 26.95 67,267.20	3 4 21.96 22.73 54,812.16 56,734.08	3 4 26.00 26.92 64,896.00 67,192.32	3 32.50 33.64 81,120.00 83,965.44	3 37.45 38.77 93,475.20 96,769.92	
EMT2 18.29 45,651.84	2 26.03 64,970.88					
EMT1 EMT2 EMT3 1 17.68 18.29 18.94 19.59 44,129.28 45,651.84 47,274.24 48,896.64	1 2 3 4 25.15 26.03 26.95 27.88 62,774.40 64,970.88 67,267.20 69,588.48					
Step F-1	7	7	Ř.	F-7	F-10	7

Hourly rates are indicated based on 2496 hours annually and for computer purposes.
 Employees assigned to the 40 hour work week receive the same annual salary with applicable hourly rate adjustment. See Article 9.3. Bi-weekly payroll draw based on 96 hours.

APPENDIX B MANUAL LEAVE CONVERSION CHART

MINUTES	80 HOUR OR 104 HOURS ASSIGNED	96 HOURS ASSIGNED BUT WORKING 80
06 to 11	0.1 Hour	0.1 Hour
12 to 17	0.2	0.2
18 to 23	0.3	0.4
24 to 29	0.4	0.5
30 to 35	0.5	0.6
36 to 41	0.6	0.7
42 to 47	0.7	0.8
48 to 53	0.8	0.9
54 to 59	0.9	1.0
60 to 65	1.0	1.2
<u>HOURS</u>		
1.0	1.0	1.2
2.0	2.0	2.4
3.0	3.0	3.6
4.0	4.0	4.8
5.0	5.0	6.0
6.0	6.0	7.2
7.0	7.0	8.4
8.0	8.0	9.6
etc.	etc.	etc.

For example, an employee on 80 hour light duty with assigned hours of 96 on the payroll who is on annual leave for one day (8 hours) is indicated as 9.6 ANN, 86.4 REG.

APPENDIX C

Bi Weekly Payroll Draw

Formula:

CA + Hours Worked = RATE RATE X 96 = Payroll Draw

Definitions -

1. CA = Computer Average. This figure is the annual salary (per appendix of the Agreement) divided by 2,496 hours to equal the Rate. The Rate is multiplied by 96 hours to equal the CA.

Example: $$24,984.96 \div 2496 = 10.01

\$10.01 X 96 = \$960.96

CA = \$960.96

2. Hours Worked = Hours actually worked or on paid leave (exclusive of overtime).
Unless unpaid time occurs this figure would equal 120, 96 or 72 hours.

Example: \$960.96 + 120 = \$8.008 = \$8.008

\$8.008 X 120 = \$960.96

\$960.96 + 96 = \$10.01 = \$10.01

\$10.01 X 96 = \$960.96

\$960.96 ÷ 72 = \$13.34666 = \$13.347

\$13.347 X 72 = \$960.98

Leave Accrual - 4.8 hour basis

For computer purposes, the 4.8 hours per bi-weekly paycycle is converted to .05.

Formula:

Hours Worked* X .05 = Accrual Amount

*Definition same as above #2,

Example:

APPENDIX D

Promotions/assignments (Article 32) result in the following step placement:

Grade F-1 t		Grade F-4 to F-5:	
F-1 Step:	F-3 Step:		Step:
2	1	6	4
3	1	7	5
4	1	8	6
5	1	9	7
6	1	10	8
7	1	11	8
8 9	1 2	12	9
10	3		
11	4		
12	6	Grade F-3 to F-7:	
12	U	F-3 Step: F-7	Step:
		4	3
Grade F-1 to	o F-4:	5	3
F-1 Step:	F-4 Step:	6	4
1	3	7	5
2		8	6
3	3 3 3		
4	3	Condo E E to E 7	
5	4	Grade F-5 to F-7: F-5 Step: F-7:	Step:
6	5	F-5 Step. F-7 (3
7	5 5	7	3
8	5	8	6
9	6	9	6
10	7	10	7
11	8	11	7
12	12	• •	•
		Grade F-10:	
Grade F-3 to			Step:
F-3 Step:	F-4 Step:	, тобр.	- 10 p
1	6	7	4
2 3	7 8	8	6
4	9		
5	10	Grade F-11:	
6	12	F-10 Step: F-11	Step:
7	12	7 1	•
8	12	7 or less	6
_		8	7

APPENDIX E

The IAFF and the City agree that during the life of the current collective bargaining agreement, all pension matters are subject to negotiation at any time upon the request of either the IAFF or the City.

APPENDIX F

ż	웃	<u> </u>	00	7	6	O.	4	3	2	4	POINTS
Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational incentive		AA degree recognized by State for educational incentive	60+ hoùrs	54-59	47-53	40-46	33-39	26-32	19-25	18 hours	DRIVER POINTS ENGINEER
Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational incentive		AA degree recognized by State for educational incentive	90+ hours	81-89	71-80	61-70	51-60	41-50	31-40	30 hours	FIRE
Master's degre		2nd Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational incentive	Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational incentive	110-119	100-109	90-99	80-89	70-79	61-69	60 hours	DISTRICT. CHIEF
Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational		AA degree recognized by State for educational incentive	60+ hours	51-59	43-50	35-42	27-34	19-26	10-18	0 - 9 hours	PARAMEDIC
Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational		AA degree recognized by State for educational incentive	60+ hours	55-59	49-54	43-48	37-42	31-36	25-30	24 hours	- 24 . 24
Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational		AA degree recognized by State for educational Incentive	90+ hours	81-89	71-80	61-70	51-60	41-50	31-40	30 hours	ASST XX RESCUE INSPECTION: INVESTIGATOR INVESTI
Bachetor's degree recognized by State for Master's degree educational incentive		AA degree recognized by State for educational incentive	90+ hours	81-89	71-80	61-70	51-60	41-50	31-40	30 hours	TOR/ IGATOR
Master's degree		2nd Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational incentive	Bachelor's degree recognized by State for educational incentive	110-119	100-109	90-99	80-89	70-79	61-69	60 hours	FIRE INSP/ INVEST SUPV



CITY OF TAMPA

Bob Buckhorn, Mayor

Department of Human Resources

Kimberly Crum, Director

November 3, 2016

Steve Suarez
President, International Association of Firefighters, Local 754
3116 North Boulevard
Tampa, Florida 33603

Dear Mr. Suarez:

This letter is provided in accordance with our discussion during negotiations.

The IAFF and the City are in agreement that promotional examinations are one very important measure of readiness for employees who desire to take on more responsibility within Tampa Fire Rescue. Inasmuch as these examinations are generally only given once every two years for each rank, the process surrounding these tests is critically important.

From time to time, the City and the IAFF find it helpful to make adjustments to the testing procedures used for Fire Promotional Examinations. This resulted in productive discussions during negotiations which lead to changes in Article 32 Promotions, with regard to elimination of the test requirement when the number of candidates does not exceed the number of vacant positions and to updates in the source materials for promotional examinations.

The following additional information is provided:

- 1) The City will continue to endeavor to produce preliminary grades for review and protest as soon as possible following each test.
- 2) The IAFF and the City will work together to ensure that candidates for promotion validate their education and seniority points by the close of the protest period, in order to ensure accuracy of all lists provided.
- The City will continue to endeavor to finalize scores and produce eligibility lists as soon as
 possible following each test.
- 4) The City agrees to work with Fire Management and with the Union to minimize any gaps between eligibility lists. We share the goal of scheduling each test at least two months prior to the expiration of the current list, when applicable.
- 5) The City-agrees to provide a large "countdown clock" for future tests, able to be viewed by interested participants, resulting in no interruptions to candidates regarding time remaining.



6) The City will continue to work with the IAFF to ensure understanding of the calculations for each test, including the test itself, education and seniority points. The City agrees to continue to support any requests to post such calculations to employees, ensuring collaboration on this message between the Fire Union, Fire Management and Human Resources.

It is our intention that these adjustments and ongoing open, productive communication will add to the testing experience for our employees.

We appreciate the interest of the IAFF on these important matters and look forward to our continued collaboration on this very important process.

Sincerely,

Kimberly Crum
Director of Human Resources



CITY OF TAMPA

Bob Buckhorn, Mayor

Department of Human Resources

Kimborly Crum, Director.....

November 3, 2016

Steve Suarez
President, International Association of Firefighters
3116 North Boulevard
Tampa, Florida 33603

Dear Mr. Suarez:

This letter is provided in accordance with our discussion during negotiations.

During FY2017 the City and the IAFF, Local 754 will meet to continue to determine the feasibility and procedures to implement a new program for employees. This program would apply to employees who are within three years of the completion of their DROP period. The eligible employee would be able to elect to participate in a program whereby their sick leave balance at 50% would be determined and they would be able to receive advance payments of one-third of the 50% balance per year for a period of three years. The advance payments are calculated using the employee's current rate of pay. The employee can elect (and it is anticipated that they would elect) to defer the advance payment to their deferred retirement account.

Potential and future sick leave accrual during the three year period would not be included in the advance payments and any sick leave balance remaining (that has not been part of an advance payment) will be paid at separation in accordance with the union contract at 50%. Additionally, as part of this program a participating employee would waive any future usage of the Fire Sick Leave Bank.

The feasibility of this program shall include further legal review including but not limited to verification of compliance with IRS regulations including deferred compensation regulations.

We are hopeful that a program could be established which would benefit the employees who choose to participate and look forward to working with the IAFF.

Sincerely,

Kimberly Crum

Director of Human Resources





CITY OF TAMPA

Bob Buckhorn, Mayor

Department of Human Resources

Kimberly Crum, Director

December 13, 2016

Steve Suarez
President, International Association of Firefighters, Local 754
3116 North Boulevard
Tampa, Florida 33603

Dear Mr. Suarez:

This letter is provided in accordance with our discussion during negotiations.

The City agrees to offer employees covered by this agreement the opportunity to participate in health screenings in addition to the programs offered through the City's health insurance provider and its wellness centers.

To that end, the City will continue to provide voluntary wellness physicals which focus on early detection and prevention, whereby employees participate in a medical review program that includes, at minimum, a comprehensive physical examination with ultrasound imaging.

Participation by the employee is limited to one such physical during the life of this contract, will be voluntary, and at no cost to the employee.

It is also agreed that the IAFF will review best practices and medical standards in order to make a recommendation to the City regarding an additional voluntary scan of the brain (whether by age, years of service/exposure or some other factors, yet to be determined). The City agrees to review this item upon receipt.

We recognize the importance of supporting public safety employees in maintaining their health and fitness, including the value of these preventative or early diagnostic screenings.

Sincerely,

Kimberly Crum

Director of Human Resources

www.tampagov.net